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Associagio
Lors CMemoria

Preface de Kimeira
have followed the research undertaken by
the author who, for thirty years has attended

the archives of various countries in search of

original documents relating to the Sharecropping

System implemented by Senator Nicolau Pereira

de Campos Vergueiro, from the mid XIX century.

The crossing of the content found in the documents

kept in the collections of Brazil, Germany, Portugal

and Switzerland have surprised researchers. The
curiosities obtained in the studies of documents
produced in Gothic German, French, Italian and

Archaic Portuguese have contributed greatly to the

enrichment of the Brazilian historiography; and

not a few academics, national and European, have
grounded their doctorates and masters studies on
curiosities published by José Eduardo Heflinger

Junior.

The book Sharecropping System and European
Immigration focuses on an exciting theme and
fosters deep discussion about the importance of the
pioneering Senator Vergueiro in the colonization of
Brazil by the introduction of European labor in the
coffee culture, and consequently the substitution
of slaves for free labor. For decades, scholars
have discussed the reasons for the Rebellion of
the Sharecroppers, held in 1856 in lbicaba Farm.
Heflinger found in the collection of the Swiss
Federal Archives in Bern numerous manuscripts
(letters) sent by Thomas Davatz to the trader
Gustav Lutz and to Mr. Heinrich David, Consul
General of Switzerland, between late 1855 and
December 1856. This dossier of immeasurable rarity
reveals extremely curious facts about the theme.
The book also addresses the concern of deputies
and senators acting in the imperial period, with the
problem of labor that at the time, was consisted of
African slaves.

Thus, i invite readers on a journey into the
XIX century, a period when, being hired by the
Sharecropping System, Europeans sought shelter
in the Brazilian land and contributed to the
development of our country.

Paulo Masuti Levy _ :
President of the Association Pro Memory of Limeira

: 4 dicalds HenrigueaMango
Oleo s/ tela - Acerva Miiseu Paaligta ISP
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trade to Brazil

The Sharecropping System

s
ol

n terms of its employment in agriculture, the

Sharecropping System consists of the equal
division of profits obtained in crop, between the
landowner and the individual that works on it. The
first provides the capital represented by land, crop
or anything similar, and the second provides labor:
clearing the land, sowing, tending the crops and
taking charge of the harvest. In the mid XIX century,
the employment of Eurcpean immigrants hired
by the Sharecropping System in the coffee planta-
tions had, more or less, the following model: after
deduction of expenses with the yard, processing,
transportation to the port, storage, taxes, com-
missions to brokers, losses for different reasons,
etc.., net profit was split equally between the far-
mer and the agriculturist. For this reason, the co-
lonists were also called partners or sharecroppers.
With regard to coffee, in 1820, Brazil exported ni-
nety seven thousand and five hundred sacks, and in
1859 the number increased to over two million. The
value of the exported product tripled in a short pe-
riod of time. In 1840, it was close to eighteen thou-
sand contos de réis,* and in 1858, this value tripled.
Reports attached to the Vergueiro Process, kept in
the Federal Archive of Bern, suggest that the most

significant harvest was in 1860/61, reaching nearly
three million sacks for export. That meant appro-
ximately eighty million arrobas, ¥ amounting to
eighty thousand contos de réis. Increased produc-
tion demanded the employment of a larger number
of Africans, not only to take care of the coffee and
sugar cane crops, but also to help with transporta-
tion to the granaries and porfs. For this reason, in
the period between 1840 and 1850, over thirty thou-
sand slaves were imported per year. From 1851 %%,
except for illegal trafficking, there was a decrease in
negotiations and the price of slaves rose significan-
tly. This reality forced farmers to seek labor in Euro-
pe, taking advantage of the precarious situation of
some regions of the Old World.




Pioneer in the employment of European immigrants by the
Sharecropping System

n a letter sent by Senator Nicolau Pereira de

Campos Vergueiro on January 6, 1852, to José
Tomas Nabuco de Araujo, President of the Province
of Sao Paulo, we have collected the following sta-
tement on the employment of the Sharecropping
System in Imperial Brazil: “Impressed by the decline
of agriculture threatened by the abolition of slave
trade, | designed a Patriotic Society to protect im-
migration. Although there was a favorable respon-
se, my illnesses denied me the necessary strength
to carry it forward. | abandoned the project, not
the idea. After some time, always restless with the
desire to work on it, | took upon myself the task of
founding a colony of some size, based on the prin-
ciple of association or sharecropping, the one that,
to date, still seems to be the only feasible model |
can offer my compatriots to imitate. | prepared the
coffee plantation and imported ninety Portuguese
colonists “... @ International pressure, mainly un-
dertaken by England, against the trafficking and
use of slave labor in Brazil caught the attention of
Vergueiro regarding the difficulties we would face
in the future. Africans constituted the driving force

THE SHARECROPPING SYSTEM AND THE
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of the sugar cane and coffee crops, so it explained
the import of European workers in an attempt to re-
place the slave labor for free labor. After heavily cri-
ticizing the Imperial Government about the poorly
and disorganized experience undertaken in the late
1820s ¥ aiming at establishing colonial settlements
in the Province of Sado Paulo , Senator Vergueiro
brought in 1841, at his own expense, ninety Por-
tuguese from Minho to his Ibicaba Farm @ where

he constituted the first sharecropping colony of

Brazil. Vergueiro assumed the costs with ship-

ping companies and transport from the port

of Santos to the farm, and until the colonists
could obtain the results of their work, he provi-
ded them with food and necessaries. Each fa-
mily was responsible for a portion of the coffee
plantation, tending the crops for the harvest.
After the commercialization, the profit was di-
vided into equal parts and debts incurred with
the mentioned advances were gradually repaid,
by charging 6 % interest per year.

In an attempt to reconstruct the events that oc-
curred in the mid XIX century, we have undertaken
research in many European archives situated in the
regions that promoted emigration to Brazil by the
Sharecropping System. In Portugal, we have visited
the archives of Minho and Torre do Tombo. In the
police department, and in all the corresponden-
ce with the administrators of the Council, we have
found references about the people engaged throu-
gh the existing network in Alto Minho. Documents
dating from the 18s50s indicated that most emi-
grants left Portugal illegally. The emigration agents
did not enjoy a good reputation with authorities.
The head of the police department considered this
initiative as white slavery. The agents promised the
more ignorant Portuguese a superior life condition,
creating expectations that could never be accompli-
shed. We found cases of minors who requested the
issuance of passports without the consent of their
parents, who later attended the police stations
complaining about the activities of the emigration
agents, accusing them of having misled their chil-
dren.The agents hired and boarded any individuals,
including those guilty of death crimes or theft. The-
re was a very well organized network involving shi-
pping companies and captains of vessels. This plot
was discovered by the Portuguese authorities, who
began to demand a very strict control, consisting of
inspections on the ships that left the ports towards
Brazil.

Regent Nicolau
Pereira de Cam pos
Vergueiro. Oil on
canvas by Tulio
Mugnaine, Paulista
Museum - LISP.

(1) (Official Letter)
Report sent b_\'
Senator Vergueiro

to the President of
the Province of Sio
Paulo on January 6,
1852 (Collection of
Historical Archives of
the Imperial Museum
- Petr()polis - Pack
117 - Doc 5786).

(2) ( In Session No.
84 of the Government
Council, on October
18, 1828, Nicolau
Pereira de Campos
Vergueiro hca\'il_\'
criticized the model
adopted by the
Brazilian government
for the establishment
of colonial settlements
(Santo Amaro in Sao
Paulo / 1827/1829 ),
ceding land to forcign

lmmlgranb).

(3) Property of
Senator Nicolau
Pereira de Campos
Vergueiro located
in Limeira, State of
Sao Paulo. After the
emancipation of one
of its sub-districts,
it became part of
the municipality of

Cordeiropolis.
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In the late 1850s, the Civil Government of Porto
undertook actions to supervise emigration to Brazil.
The Civil Governor began to check if agents were
qualified people as provided by law. A procedure
was implemented to verify if the contracted people
were leaving of their own free will and aware of
the obligations and burdens that they would be
subjected to. The Civil Government had no power to
interfereinthe kind, time and conditions of the ticket
payment, but only in the way that those conditions
were reported and linked to the engagement. After
everything was settled, to ensure compliance with
the agreed upon between the parties, each emigrant

kept a copy certified by the responsible authority,
who inturn, also kept a copy of the original contract.
The Navy Quartermaster undertook the inspection.
After the inspection, people were forbidden access
to the vessels. In 1859, emigration agents continued
to break the law. We found a document containing
the seal of the Civil Government of the District
of Porto accusing Antonio Joaguim d'Andrade
Villares, agent who represented Vergueiro & Co., of
practicing illegalities.

Numerous documents from the State Archive
of S3o Paulo suggest the influence exerted by the
Vergueiros with authorities, including privileges,
exempting them from the inspection conducted on
the vessels at the Port of Santos. “’ Vergueiro exerci-
sed power over provincial and port authorities, and
this condition facilitated the introduction of illegal
colonists.

In 1842, being involved with the Liberal
Revolution, Senator Nicolau Pereira de Campos
Vergueiro was arrested, and the pioneer
sharecropping colony of Brazil disbanded. In the
report sent on January 6, 1852 to the President of
the Province of S3o Paulo, the Senator commented
on the episode: - “Amidst my greatest enthusiasm,
that called all my attention to that object, | suffered
such troubles that, after the dismantling of the
colony, | did not feel strong enough to rebuild it and
any hope of making it succeed, due to my age. This
time, | have even abandoned the idea”.

Rabelo Boats on their way to Porto (Porto - Portugaly. Viana do Castelo archive - Portugal




Vergueiro & Company

n 1845, in order to contribute to the cause of

colonization, Senator Nicolau Pereira de Cam-
pos Vergueiro offered an amendment that was ap-
proved in the budget. The Imperial Government
authorized, by law 369 of the 18th of September of
the same year, the expense of two hundred contos
de réis to import colonists hired by the Sharecrop-
ping System. In the official letter dated February
25, 1846, (1) the Government of the Province of Sao
Paulo, on behalf of the Imperial Government, made
the invitation to the reception of immigrants, taking
responsibility for the transport costs. According to
the report of Minister Joaquim Marcelino de Brito,
dated 1845, the invitation was addressed to the
farmers from all provinces, however, only Senator
Nicolau Pereira de Campos Vergueiro accepted it.
We can imagine the dimension of responsibility that
this action required, because the farmer would be in
charge of supplying the needs of many alien fami-
lies. Vergueiro knew that he could not assume this
task alone and to solve the problem, he joined some
of his children and constituted Vergueiro & Com-
pany Civil Society for Agriculture and Colonization,
in the villages of Limeira, Sdo Jodo do Rio Claro, and
a Commercial Society in Santos, for business com-
missions in general, buying and selling coffee and
other genres of the country. The headquarters were
at Number 38 Praia Street, in the city of Santos. Af-
ter suffering some modifications on May 8, 1852 the
contract was substituted, the company’s funds were

EUROPEAN
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raised to 300:000 $ 000, the Senator’s part being 234
shares of one conto de réu each, Jose Vergueiro’s 40
and Joaquim'’s 26. The Senator would be director of
the society, while he lived, Jose Vergueiro the first
administrator and Joaquim the second. The society
would not be extinguished by the death of a partner,
and the rights of the deceased would be transferred
to his heirs.

(1) Collection of tk
Public Archive of tl

State of Sao Paulo.

Port of Santos
Gerodetti, Jodo an
Cornejo, Carlos,
Recollection of Sac
Paulo in Postcards

Memory Albums

Partnership
Agreement printec
in three languages
by Vergueiro & Co.
(nineteenth centur
Bank of Documer
(Microfilms) of
Carlota Schmidt
Memorial Center -
Swiss Federal Arch
Collection - Bern -
Switzerland.
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t the end of March 1847, four hundred and

fifty citizens of Rheiland -Hessen, Pfalz and
Schleswig Holstein embarked at the port of Ham-
burg, and in June of the same year, arrived at the
Port of Santos. The following month, they joined
some Portuguese who had remained in Ibicaba
Farm after the crisis of 1842, and inaugurated the
Senator Vergueiro Colony. The success of the first
immigrant experience involving German citizens
contracted by the Sharecropping System, informed
by letters sent by immigrants to their friends and
family, encouraged emigration. In our researches
undertaken at Staatsarchiv Rudolstadt (Thuringia/
Germany) we found the report "Emigration to Brazil
and its Brilliant Success”, registering positive facts
depicting the emigration occurred between 1847
and 1851 ™,

Documents dating from the same period record
the other side of the story. In Brazil, the foreign
colonists had difficulty communicating, especially
because of the language barrier. They devoted the-
mselves to work and spent years and years without
learning Portuguese. Catholicism predominated
and the German and Swiss Protestants suffered dis-
crimination. For a long time, the Protestant aliens
could not bury their dead in the cemeteries, and
they were often victimized by slander, being used
as a shield to cover up political disagreements, es-
pecially between the Liberals and Conservatives.
Numerous official letters stored in the collection of
the Public Archive of the State record the war clima-
te installed in the Village of Limeira during the 1849
elections. The representatives of the Conservative
Party uttered accusations in an attempt to tarnish
the name of the liberals, among who figured Se-

Inauguration of Senator Vergueiro Colony

| Ansicht pon Schloss Eriedenstein mit Fortifikation von Nordwesten,
! Kolorierte Federzeichmung von Andreas Rudolph (Forschungsbiblio:

bk

nator Vergueiro. The conservatives had formed an
armed group to intimidate voters and justified it by
stating that they were trying to defend themselves
from “hosts of opposition”, formed by well-armed
foreign colonists. Mr. J. Silva Diniz, then Justice of
the Peace, officiated to the president of the provin-
ce, contesting the claims, reporting that the foreign
colonists were quiet and peaceful in their colonies.
Because of the difficulty with the language, a few
stammered some words in Portuguese, so they did
not engage in political affairs that warmed the cli-
mate on the land of Morro Azul and Tatuibi, primiti-
ve names of the region where the municipalities of
Limeira, Cordeirépolis and Iracemapolis are located.
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In the report sent to the President of the Pro-
vince of Sao Paulo on January 6, 1852, Senator Ver-
gueiro reported the constitution of his company
and the arrival of the first Germans in Ibicaba: - “In
1846, | was invited by the President of the Provin-
ce, on behalf of the Imperial Government, to recei-
ve colonists, being responsible for the tickets, this
invitation was also made to many people, and | be-
lieve in all provinces. This initiative has revived my
idea, and without the vigor to carry it out, | invited
some of my sons to create the Vergueiro & Com-
pany Society @, that in 1847 received four hundred
and twenty-three German colonists required by the
government that was responsible for the amount
of thirty-two contos, two hundred thousand reis,
for two, three and four years. With these Germans
and a small remnant of Portuguese from the first
attempt, Senator Vergueiro Colony began in July
1847 9. In the beginning, all the colonists were very
happy as their fortunes improved significantly as
a result of the benefits of the Society, without the
harshness of the back country, and they were eager
to work in return for profit. Unfortunately, very few
were experienced farmers, and these were the ones
that persevered. The others, artisans or vagabonds,
slackened and lost interest. Workshops were esta-
blished to provide work for a few, some were sent to
work in the farmhouse, and others were allowed to
find jobs outside the colony. These were just pallia-
tive measures and, in part, contrary to the purposes
of the establishment. It was necessary to permit
many of them to depart, at the risk of losing what
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they owed, and to date, the colony has not yet been
purged of all the unfit members. | do not think that
this impropriety of colonists is an eventuality, rather
| believe it will be an inherent characteristic of all
imports. The business is under the responsibility of
shipowners and their agents, the former seek car-
go for their boats and the latter a commission per
person. The Consuls’ certificates are not issued ba-
sed on their own knowledge, but on that of others.
And who will deny them to those who emigrate? It
is a necessary evil, against which we have to be fo-
rewarned. The only solution is to have an abundan-
ce of colonists, so that each one may be employed
according to his habits. As the number of sharecro-
ppers diminished and the necessities of the esta-
blishment increased, Vergueiro & Co. Society asked
the government to continue with their promised aid
because we felt entitled to it as the only ones who
replied to the invitation in 1846, taking the risks of
founding a new major enterprise. The reply was that
there were no allocated funds in the budget, but, as
compensation, payment of the debt would be pos-
tponed for one year. The Society, trusting that the
Legislative Body would not fail to designate suffi-
cient funds for such a unanimously important en-
deavor, doubled its efforts and imported sixty five
Germans, but it was a greater failure than the first
group, since there was not a single colonist qualified
for agriculture. Recently, we have imported fifty
Portuguese colonists and expect better results. On
the other hand, the Society’s two hundred and fifty
slaves, of all ages and both genders, had to be di-
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verted from the sugar plantations, bringing an im-
portant factory with two mills to a halt, to take care
of the coffee plantations that had been set apart for
the colonists. We have persevered in increasing our
plantations and have bought another larger piece of
property to accommodate four thousand sharecro-
ppers, since only amidst a populous colony will it be
possible to create educational institutions and other
conveniences to excite spontaneous immigration,
which will be hard or tardy if centers of attraction
are not formed. Under these circumstances, Ver-
gueiro & Co. Society, in danger of suffering losses
due to the stagnation of the invested capital, and
desirous of carrying on with the undertaking we had
begun by instigation of the government, as soon as
the law of September 18, 1850 was published, gran-
ting credit for the importation of colonists, solicited
the continuation of the promised support. These re-
quests were repeated for a second and third time,
with intervals, without obtaining any dispatch or
indication of the government’s intentions on the
issue. Only during a session of the Senate in 1853,
was | able to discover why | had received no endor-
sement: the government had yet to establish the ru-
les for the execution of the law of public lands and,
to this date, they labor under the same uncertainty
and lethargy. Finally, the colonists, now reduced
to three hundred and twenty seven people, are far
from living up to their potential without failing on
the new plantations that are being formed. The co-
ffee of Ibicaba Farm, which is processed together
with that from the Colony, for each of the last two
years, has been estimated at twenty three thousand
arrobas. The colonists would receive half of the net
crop if only they could do all the work assigned to
them. They are planting nothing but coffee now, as
well as crops for their own sustenance, and selling

some butter and a few surplus products. However,
this is not the only application that the landowners
intend for them. We also intend to employ them
in the sugar plantations and have planted fifteen
thousand mulberry trees and will experiment, if
convenient, with the silkworm. We have also been
considering a dairy and some workshops helped by
mechanics, and have not underestimated any other
initiative that might be useful to the system. Ho-
wever, for the moment, it does not seem prudent
to try out new objects before the possibilities for
the first one, already familiar to them, have not yet
been exhausted. Therefore, Your Excellency, this is
what the Senator Vergueiro Colony has been up to
at the moment and the possibility of what it could
be, if provided with sufficient labor. | have the dee-
pest conviction that it shall be of exceedingly great
public utility, not only as model that could be im-
proved, but also as a nucleus to attract those who
emigrate and offer them ready and viable means
to come and settle here. The pamphlet written by
Perret Gentil, who has studied the colony carefully,
shall provide Your Excellency with more information
aboutit.”

In the Staatsarchiv Bremen we found a report
by V. Schaumann, vice-consul of that city in Santos,
sent on May g, 1849 to the Consul General of Bre-
men in Rio de Janeiro. Schaumann reported the im-
portance of the Port of Santos, its proximity to Rio
de Janeiro and its vocation for the establishment
of businesses. The diplomat said that colonization
was still moderate and suggested that the Brazilian
government should give more support to encoura-
ge it. He praised the healthy climate of Brazil and
reported: “In 1847, we received 500 colonists from
Hamburg and we are awaiting more 400", @
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Since the first immigration experience the
consuls and Swiss envoys issued reports on
the movement of colonization in Brazil. Diplomats
informed that, year after year, the introduction of
immigrants increased its importance, however, at
that moment, emigration was a precipitate atti-
tude. They thought it would be safer to emigrate
to the USA. A document dated 1851 recorded the
yellow fever epidemic that punished the country
and claimed many lives. The mailer cited the report
(pamphlet) by Consul Perret Gentil, who had praised
Vergueiro Colony, whose translation he was awai-
ting.

Contrary to this information, that same year,
Charles Perret Gentil, then Consul General of Swit-
zerland, and Jose Vergueiro, the Senator’s son and
director of Vergueiro & Co., persuaded the Swiss
municipalities to grant advances to fund travel
for their citizens. The hirer would charge these
amounts on future colonists and would be respon-
sible for reimbursing them. Many Helvetic com-
munities readily accepted, thinking that it was a
solution to the problem of poverty, however, based

on extensive documentation captured in Brazilian,
Swiss and German archives, we can guarantee that
many communes included, in the lists of emigrants,
individuals who had no experience in agriculture, el-
ders, sick, and miserable families loaded with young
children. These localities promoted a cleaning by
getting rid of bad character elements that should
be in prison causing expenses to public coffers.
These people were listed as aggregates of families
who were forced to accept them under threat of not
being benefited with travel advances. A solidarity
clause was also included in the sharecropping con-
tracts, it obliged those employed to pay the debt of
all individuals listed in the contract, including those
who refused to work, sick, dead or fleeing from the
colonies. In the future, this requirement was one of
the reasons for the debt of thousands of colonists.
On the other hand, with rare exceptions, Brazilian
farmers were not sensitive enough to develop a res-
pectful relationship with the immigrant colonists.
They were used to treating African slaves inhuman-
ly. This subject has been discussed in our previous
volumes. @

EROPEAN

M R 129




i

Superagui Colony .

harles Perret Gentil who had so far held the

post of Consul General of Switzerland in Bra-
zil, not only was one of the greatest encouragers of
the Sharecropping System, but also decided to start
undertaking it. In the early 1850s, after ending his
diplomatic post, he decided to found a coloniza-
tion company, and in order to do so, he chose the
gigantic and almost unpopulated Paranagua Bay to
constitute the Superagui Colony. ® At that time, the
region belonged to the Province of Sdo Paulo and
had a considerable forest wealth, an extensive area
of fertile land irrigated by fishy rivers that offered
facilities for transport of agricultural production by
sea. We have found at the Swiss Federal Archives in
Bern a dossier containing information on the sub-
ject. On September 11, 1851, Charles Perret Gentil,
as purchaser, and Mr. David Stevenson and his wife,
Madam Jacintha, as vendors, all residing in the city
of Rio de Janeiro, established, in the presence of the
registrar Pedro José de Castro, a contract of pur-
chase and sale of an area called Superagui. It was
an old property of the Jesuits which later belonged
to the estate of the late Jose Narcizo Coelho. The-
se lands were acquired by auction by Mr. Steven-
son in the Orphans Court of the city of Paranagua,
then Province of Sdo Paulo. The Superagli Farm
included “a share of land on the island Ilha das Pe-
¢as, to the North sea, limited on one side by Pecas
River and Baguassu River and on the other by the
islands Pinheiros and Comprida, located on the Pi-
nheiros Bay. A share of land called Superag(i, star-
ting from Barra de Superagii until Barra de Arara-
pira, limited on this side by extending until where
Viradouro Velho River flows into the sea, and from
there following the path to Barra do Rio Segredo on
the north, and from this land to Pontal da Barra do
Superagui”.?’ Perret arranged the purchase of Mr.
Stevenson’s property for the sum of nine thousand
reis in three installments. The first, for the value of
two contos and five hundred thousand reis at the
moment of signing the property deed at the notary,
the second and third, both in the amount of three
contos and two hundred and fifty thousand reis, in
two and three year period after the date of the deed
drawn up on 14 January 1852 by Joaquim José de
Castro, Civil Law Notary in the court and city of Rio
de Janeiro. The purchaser had taken the compro-
mise not to sell, authorize or establish any business
involving the farm before full payment of the cited
debts. The Superagui Colony located on Paranagua
Bay, was settled by selling lots to European immi-
grants, mainly Swiss, and by hiring natives and im-
migrants, under the sharecropping regime. He did
not follow the contract model adopted by Vergueiro
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and Co., not obliging himself to give the colonists
the needed items. He allowed the use of land and
the sharecroppers who worked on it got half of the
agricultural production. We found at the Swiss Fe-
deral Archives in Bern a petition, dated February 2,
1852 sent by Perret’s colonists to Emperor Don Pe-
dro I1. All colonists who signed this document were
Brazilian or Portuguese. Here’s an updated synthe-
sis of the original document: “We the undersigned,
residents of the lands of Superagui, frontier with
the city of Paranagua, owned by Mr. Charles Perret
Gentil, Consul General of Switzerland, have lived
up to the present, in a state of misery from lack of
education and convenient direction for fishing, wi-
thout enjoying the benefits of culture, for lack of the
necessary resources for subsistence, we come to
make to Your Imperial Majesty the following expo-
sure: Since Mr. Perret Gentil founded the principles
of a colony in the aforesaid lands, and demonstra-
ted to the undersigned which were the means to
be employed and the way forward to improve our
unhappy fortune, we foresaw a more flattering futu-
re and decided to try this means of achieving pros-
perity, by adopting the system of colonization and
the sharecropping agricultural work. Being away
from the city and any important establishment the
undersigned became sloppy, lacking all resources,
such as religion, education, and the help of medici-
ne. Mr. Perret Gentil's establishment made us feel
hope for a major improvement of our social status
and being useful to our country, reaching through
work, a position that could allow us to transmit to
our children education , morals and love of work.
But, Lord, Your Imperial Majesty knows that for men
who have always been disgraced and deprived of all,
itis costly to leave this state without a powerful help
to begin the agricultural work, without being forced
to deviate from that occupation, to seek subsisten-
ce for the families, when not producing agriculture.
Such an obligation is the major impediment to hin-
der the development of our desires and encourage
Us to begin a new course. Your Imperial Majesty has
always been solicitous to your subjects, and that is
why, knowing all the benevolence of Your Imperial
Majesty to favor what might improve the fortune
of natives and contribute to the development and
improvement of Brazil, we the undersigned, come
with this submissive exposure respectfully to beg
Your Imperial Majesty to look down at them and
help facilitate the colonial establishment of Mr.
Perret Gentil, on which our future fortune depends
upon. Hoping to receive mercy - Superagiii — fron-
tier with the city of Paranagua - 19 January 1852",

I have published the texts transcribed from ori-

(1) Superagiii: nan
of Tupi-Guarani or
meaning “Queen o

Fish”,

(2) Auction
documented by the
office of the registr
Antonio Caetano d
Cruz - Collection
of Swiss Federal

Archives.




ginal documents without any orthographic correc-
tion, mainly for us to have a notion of the degree
of culture flaunted by the authors of these valuable
pieces, or even to consider the non remote possibili-
ty that someone more knowledgeable or interested
might have written them.

It is written in the deed solemnized in Deed
Book No. 196, sheet 116, by Notary Joaquim José
de Castro, in the city of Rio de Janeiro, that Perret
paid, on December 17, 1852, the two installments
that had to be paid after two and three years from
the date of the deed drawn up on January 14, 1852.
Perhaps he anticipated these payments to get rid
of the impediments relating to the commercializa-
tion and use of the lands of Superagui. On his trip to
Switzerland undertaken in late 1851 or early 1852,
he negotiated some areas with about fifteen Helve-
tic families who dreamed of a promising future. On
May 17, 1853, according to the deed drawn up by Mr.
Antonio José Pinto, notary of the city of Paranagug,
Perret declared that his brother, Mr. Augusto Perret
Gentil owned half of the farm.

On August 29, 1853, by Law 704, sanctioned by
D. Pedro Il, the County of Curitiba was separated
from the Province of Sdo Paulo, becoming part of
the Province of Parana. In 1860, when Superagui
housed a population of four hundred and twenty
people, Perret sent an official letter to the Emperor,
requesting assistance for implementation of a
school and a religious temple in the colony. We have
notfound documentation support to say whether he
was attended or not. In 1861, the colony produced
wine and sugar; had a brickyard, sawmill, shipyard,
mills to benefit coffee, cassava, rice, sugar cane and
exported coffee and fish.

In October 2011, we were at the Musée Histori-
que de Vevey, where they keep drawings by Guillau-
me Henri Michaud (1829-1902), known as William
Michaud, Swiss born in Vevey who in 1852 settled
as a planter in Superagui. In 1854 he married Maria
Custodia do Carmo, native of the place. According
to documents found in Vevey, we have learned that
only in 1864, after receiving the inheritance on the
death of his father, Michaud could finally pay his
debts with Charles Perret Gentil. The many letters
that he sent to his family, as well as his works in
graphite and watercolors, in gouache and varnish
reveal interesting facts and images of the sharecro-
pping colony founded by the former Consul General
of Switzerland. Frangoise Lambert, curator of the
mentioned museum, has sent us valuable images
and authorized us to translate and publish the men-
tioned letters. Michaud and his Alsatian neighbor
Sigwalt, who assumed the duties of Sheriff in Su-
peragui, dedicated to growing grapes in Morro Bar-

bados, producing the wine called “Petit Bordeaux”.
We found in the official report to the Assembly, on
March 31, 1877, the following quote: “the wine that
is produced in the colony has been well accepted in
the capital”. Michaud taught the first letters to the
colonists and rendered services to the ill based on
his knowledge of alternative medicine. He hosted
Alfredo d'Escragnolle Taunay (Viscount Taunay)
and his entourage, during his visit to Superagui in
1885, There are different explanations for the stag-
nation of the colony’s growth. In 1875, Dr. Ermelino
de Ledo, President of the Province of Parana, noted
in his report that the colony had prospered, but af-
ter the death of Charles Perret Gentil it had fallen
into discouragement. Other scholars have credited
the decline to the lack of government support. The
Federalist Revolution (18g3/95) also caused severe
shocks to the colonists. Many houses were looted,
including the aforementioned artist's. He reports
that in 1900 there was a population of 1480 souls
in Superagui. At that time, among all the Swiss, Ita-
lians and Germans who had arrived in the mid XIX
century, only Michaud and Giovanni Batista Rovero
were left. In 1920, the population was reduced to
125 people. Michaud died on September 7, 1902,
and was buried in the wonderful Superagii, whe-
re he had lived with his beloved Custodia and had
brought up his nine children.

Egypt plant with yellow flowers - Orchid family. Watercolor,
gouache and varnish on paper drawing - William Michaud.

Musee Historique de Vevey Collection.
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Colfee Terrace on Ibicaba Farm - early twentieth century

Image Bank of Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center
Paulo Levy Collection.

' Rgbhskedmﬁre books: “The aeiaemmomasm cx
~ Ibadb’.\” and “Then the Italians Arnved" .

The employment of the
Sharecropping System
in the Province of Sdo Paulo

ocuments of the period written in Gothic Ger-

man, French and Archaic Portuguese found
in numerous European and Brazilian archives reveal
the importance of the employment of the Sharecro-
pping System by Vergueiro & Company. Following
the example of Charles Perret Gentil, many Brazilian
farmers, especially those established in the Province
of Sdo Paulo, encouraged by the results achieved in
the colony of Ibicaba Farm during the first years, pla-
ced orders for Vergueiro & Co. to import and transfer
colonists. The company continued its plan to intensify
the immigration current, aiming to replace hand labor
and was already preparing new facilities to do so. The
Vergueiro House appointed Mr. Schmidt as agent to
sign contracts in Hamburg and Mr. M. Valentin to be
in charge of transporting emigrants. The Imperial Go-
vernment of Brazil, under various pretexts, denied the
assistance to the above initiative, however, the Gover-
nment of the Province of Sdo Paulo, through the Pro-
vincial Law of July 19, 1852, guided the establishment
of the contract to import colonists on August 4, 1852,
which was renewed on September 15, 1854. At that
time, the British were patrolling the Brazilian coast
with greater intensity and obtaining slaves became
an expensive feat.

In just one decade (1847-1857), Vergueiro & Com-
pany transferred over sixty thousand European immi-
grants to numerous coffee producers. Based on the
reports by Dr. Heusser, chief judge Manoel de Jesus
Valdetaro, jurist Sebastido Machado Nunes, Mr. Jean
Jackes Tschudi, on diplomatic correspondence, on
documents from the Swiss Confederation, from the
Chamber of Deputies of Rio de Janeiro and numerous
Brazilian, Portuguese, German and Swiss archives,
we have found data on the constitution of thirty-nine
sharecropping colonies in the Province of Sdo Paulo.

We cannot close the question or accept this data
as definitive. We believe in the possibility of finding
new documents that could have recorded the names
of other colonial settlements founded under the sha-
recropping regime. This initiative undertaken by Se-
nator Nicolau Pereira de Campos Vergueiro allowed
the mentioned province to stand out before others
that composed the Empire of Brazil. On May 13, 1888,
when the abolition of slavery occurred, Sao Paulo was
more prepared to replace the captive labor.

THE SHARECRIFING SYSTEM AND THE
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(1) We quote as
examples the families
Asbahr, Kiihl,
Brammer, Dibbern,
Jirgensen, Tank,
Muller, Hardt, Stahl,
Greve, Lorenzen and

others.
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a view of the road
near Rendsburg - de
Carlota Schmidt
Memorial Center

Collection.
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n previous volumes we have published data on

the import of thirty-six families coming from
Holstein ® undertaken on March 1852 by Vergueiro &
Co. Twenty-seven families were incorporated into the
S3o Jerdnimo Colony, owned by Senator Francisco
Antonio de Souza Queiroz. The other nine, totaling
70 people, went to Sete Quedas Colony, owned by
Joaquim Bonifacio do Amaral. In 1856, fourteen fa-
milies left their farms and bought a tract of land on
Feital Farm, owned by Francisco Pires. They divided
this land into small properties and contributed to give
a German connotation to the Pires neighborhood, in
the village of Limeira. These families imported by Ver-
gueiro & Co. were incorporated successfully to Brazi-
lian communities.

Import of the sharecroppers from Holstein (1852)

T £




N4 lmtﬁ*‘“

7 ,.
et W/,zm/_@mwm/@’%/// w@j
(‘/ Mf.,/ WW %,;M*w‘ ,.._@WI%W

/ffaz/mg /M@m/

Aov Famalo {W J(%’-‘”"’im" m% =

'%;[ 2| gi g dgndy

.,/4@//,& )mm//mmﬂ%l ;

, szz

L %M%’% gy
|
e

é}}% Z/ %

éﬁ,[

|

-a’-' T
| |

f

.@4%4/@41‘.-};% L/l e MM # o gty
- ‘ 1,z/f.| .

i | o
K‘ffﬁ/ @fwm{;ﬁm/e ! W&ZM%Y%}#ﬁ%ﬁﬁé

Jr

7
%”7’/:24;3/

; Passenﬂer

4 page) of the boat

that sailed from

. Hamburg to Porto
! Santos in 26 April
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and Co. agent)
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(1) Emigration

Agent who rendered
services to Vergueiro
& Co. with the Swiss

municipalities,

(2) The passenger list
of “Kronprinz Ernest
August” belongs to
the collection of
Staatsarchiv Hamburg

(image pg 42).

(4) The letters sent

by the colonists of
Santo Antonio Colony
(Piracicaba) to the
Helvetic diplomats,
kept in the collection
of the Swiss Federal
Archives in Bern,
were published in the
book Historical Farms
in the Province of Sao

Paulo.

Letters by Thomas Davatz

After the management undertaken by Char-
les Perret Gentil and Jose Vergueiro with the
Swiss communities, the Helvetics engaged by the
Sharecropping System began to emigrate to Brazil.
After they had signed the sharecropping contract
with Vergueiro’s company, with brokering of agent
Emil de Paravicini, ® two hundred and sixty-six peo-
ple left Basel. Among them figured Thomas Davatz,
Swiss from Fanas, Canton of Graubinden. On April
20, 1855, at the Port of Hamburg, nine Prussians
were incorporated into the group that boarded
the ship “Kronprinz Ernest August”. @ After their
arrival at the Port of Santos, the immigrants were
conducted to Ibicaba and Angelica farms, the latter,
located in S3o Jodo do Rio Claro, was also owned by
Vergueiro & Co., and was inaugurating its colony.
Some municipalities of the Pratigau Valley instruc-
ted Thomas Davatz, born in the village of Fanas
(Canton of Graubiinden), to send information about
the conditions of the colonists in the Province of Sao
Paulo. From January 1856, when he already held the
position of schoolmaster at Senator Vergueiro Co-
lony, he wrote the report expressing heavy criticism
on the treatment given to colonists. We have found
in the Swiss Federal Archives (SFA) in Bern, nume-
rous letters written in Gothic German sent by the
schoolmaster of Ibicaba Farm to the Swiss trader
Gustav Lutz, resident of Rio de Janeiro, and to Mr.
David Heinrich, then Consul General of Switzerland.
| had the pleasure of providing translations of tho-
se rarities, which record events that occurred in the
colony, between October 1855 and December 1856.
To mock the surveillance on his correspondence,
undertaken by the directors of Senator Vergueiro
Colony, Davatz indicated to trader Gustav Lutz the
safest way to address his letters. Dr. Joseph Cooper
Reinhardt @, then resident of Limeira, was one of
the addressees chosen by the Swiss colonist. After
the mentioned doctor had left the village, he also
had the collaboration of Johann Christoffel Salutz,
the tavern keeper of that locality. Despite all this
care the direction of the colony became aware of
the content of the letters and the report. Dr. Gat-
ticker, who provided medical assistance in Ibicaba
and other sharecropping colonies, had revealed
the details of that document to Mr. Jonas, director
of Senator Vergueiro Colony. Based on the letters

sent by the Helvetic colonists from Santo Antonio
Colony (Piracicaba) to the Consulate General of
Switzerland in Rio de Janeiro, we were compelled to
judge that the doctor was doing double play. “ He
gained confidence of the immigrants who believed
in his good intentions and considered him a friend
and advisor; they exchanged confidences, and reve-
aled compromising facts that could not have come
to the knowledge of the farmers. Davatz asked the
“good doctor” to evaluate his reports. The school-
master of Ibicaba wanted to hear his opinion, befo-
re sending them to the Swiss authorities. Even Dr.
Gatticker confessed to another colonist that during
a visit he made to his home in Sdo Joao do Rio Cla-
ro, Mr. Jonas, director of Senator Vergueiro Colony,
took advantage of the doctor’s moment of relaxa-
tion and read the document that he had forgotten
on the couch of his residence. In the letters sent to
Gustav Lutz we could evaluate the despair of the
citizen from Fanas, who repeatedly pleaded for the

_addressee’s help to undertake an escape from the

pressure that the colony’s administrators put on
him, for him to change his mind and write a positive
report on the colonization by Sharecropping System
prevailing in Ibicaba and other colonies of the Pro-
vince of Sao Paulo. Davatz asked Mr. Lutz to exami-
ne whether the members of the Swiss Benevolent
Association in Rio de Janeiro and the Consulate
General of the Helvetic Confederation were trus-
tworthy, and after making sure they were, begged
the trader to convince them to intervene in the dire
situation of the colonies administered by Vergueiro
& Co., especially Ibicaba. Perhaps some good soul
could grant an advance to pay off his debt and so he
and his family could start a new life in Sdo Leopoldo
or the new Santa Cruz Colony, in the province of Rio
Grande do Sul. Despite his precautions, he denoun-
ced that many of his letters were violated. After the
colony’s director became aware of the information
leak and the possibility of accomplishing a dreaded
inquiry, the treatment given to Davatz became mil-
der. In his letters, the schoolmaster said his life was
in danger and he feared to be arrested to a Limeira
jail, where they used to lock those who resisted the
mistreatment or fled the farm. The contract law of
1837, still in force, was very strict, and comments in-
dicated that Vergueiro had the prison keys.

(3) According to reports by Dr. Maria José Ferreira de Aratijo Ribeiro, from the Memory Center at UNICAMP, Dr. Joseph Cooper
Reinhardt, naturalist and physician from Philadelphia - Pennsylvania - United States of America, who since 1843, had settled in Brazil,
having lived in various locations: in the capital Rio de Janeiro, Faxina, in the current state of Parana and in Sorocaba, Sao Paulo. Dr.
Reinhardt, in June 1855, hosted in Limeira, the American Consul in Rio de Janeiro, Pastor James Eletcher, who came to know the
experience of Ibicaba Farm and its sharecropping svstem with Swiss and German colonists to cultivate coffee. During this visit the doctor

told Fletcher about the incidence of a disease called Choking Evil that had an endemic character in rural Brazil. This disease is now known

as a manifestation of the Chagas disease.
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In the first letter sent by Davatz addressed to
Gustav Lutz, dated October 20, 1855, the school-
master of Ibicaba said he was grateful to God for
| having emigrated to Brazil and for enjoying with his

family, a quality of life greater than that which they
i would be experiencing in Switzerland. Many au-
thors have elected Thomas Davatz as the great Hel-
vetic hero of the century before last, for singing in
verse and prose his courage, determination and de-
tachment in his endeavor to defend his countrymen
against Vergueiro & Company. | think these resear-
chers were not aware that the schoolmaster wanted
to become an agent of emigration/immigration, as
well as the administrator of a colony he dreamed of

-
| A

I Gty fthe o

constituting in the south of Imperial Brazil. Despite
having signed a contract with the Vergueiro House,

he undertook efforts to discredit the Colony of Ibica-

ba Farm with the Consulate General of Switzerland,

as well as before the administration of the eleven
Helvetic communities that had instructed him to
write a report on the conditions faced by the Euro-
pean immigrants hired by the Sharecropping Sys-
tem to work in the coffee farms of the Province of
530 Paulo. | am publishing here, in modern English,

the most relevant information from the letter writ-

ten by the colonist from Fanas to the entrepreneur
Gustav Lutz in October 20, 1855,
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Letter sent for
Thomas Davatz to the
entrepreneur Gustay
Lutz on October 20,

. 1855 (first page).
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“To Mr. Keller Lutz & Co. in Rio de Janeiro.
Dear Sir!

- I am a man without resources, the father of nine children, three of whom were called to our eternal and
true life. As a poor man I used to exercise in Fanas, Canton of Graubinden, Switzerland, the professions of
schoolmaster and agriculturist. For the first I received my training in Beuggen, in Basel, owned by, for me,
the unforgettable Mr. Inspector Zeller, and for the agricultural profession I was prepared at home during my
youth. As you might already know, the wages of a schoolmaster in Graublnden are also very low, ranging
from one hundred to two hundred francs, for five month work. I received in my poor community a salary
of 102 francs. It is also insignificant the income of agriculture in my municipality. Land prices are so high
that if takes a few fertile years for the value of the fruit extracted from a piece of land or grass, to be equal
to four percent of the price of the land. In my country, under such circumstances, 1 had to fight against
poverty for several years, but not so much for being in need. God has always preserved me mercifully, and
poverty has always impelled me to depend on the Lord God, who I had the good fortune to meet during my
time of confirmation. We have gone through troubles and needs, but have always relied on the help of the
Lord. One such example occurred last spring. In April, the good Lord guided me safely to a place where my
family and I needn’t go through lack of food, to the contrary, as we are reasonably orderly colonists, we even
enjoy more credit and can expect to get what we need from the administration of Ybicaba Farm, while now
in my old country, many certainly have to languish in great need. So far, the Lord has helped me Sfaithfully
and mercifully, and he will continue to bless me, this is my prayer. The poor living in the eleven evangelical
communities of Pratigau, my native valley, all hope to find someone here that could sustain their body and
soul. On the occasion of my departure, they instructed me by an official statement signed and sealed by all
these communes, Lo write a faithful and true report of the local and colonists’ conditions. They also advised
me orally to engage on the foundation of a community in an appropriate place so that the emigrants coming
from these eleven locations could gather and implement a correct system of church and school to preserve
our customs and culture. The plan has been shared with a very efficient priest who is a believer, and he
would like to join in the emigration based on these models. Since I started the trip, I had decided to work to
accomplish this task which I consider as my main local job. This desire is so much stronger now that I made
sure that the conditions in the south of Brazil, in relation to fertility of soil, healthy climate, state constitu-
tion, laws, and other issues, might favor the new immigration and colonization of the poor, hardworking
and law-abiding Europeans. The south region of Brazil would be more appropriate and certainly offers
better conditions than the local colonies, which are not at all as brilliant as they falsely propagale in Eu-
rope. The Europeans who signed an agreement with the company of Mr. Vergueiro and expected to come Lo
Ybicaba or another colony of his property, practically as sold people, as the facts show, were unaware that
those who are here, have been totally abandoned when it comes to Christian and religious life, education of
children, and also in relation to worldly things they have fallen into such positions that, in our view, resemb-
le slavery. I emigrated through contract with the Vergueiro House in Santos and I have mentioned in my re-
port that if a community was installed in a fertile, healthy, and appropriate place, and was administrated
by a strong direction, it could prosper, if its residents were orderly and active people. I am at your disposal
to go to Europe personally, to deal with the communities and establish an agreement with the patricians
who want to emigrate, in order to lead them to Brazil. Obviously, I would give more attention to emigrants
who are good, honest, smart, and would invite believers of other cantons to incorporate the group, to launch
a good basis and nucleus so that a community could be founded. It would be light on the mountain in this
great country. How much could we do in such a community with an educational institution and teacher
and evangelical training? In my opinion, the community should be installed on land granted by the state
in the provinces of Parand or Rio Grande Sul. In the province of Sdo Paulo the best land is already owned
privately. For various reasons it would not be advisable to choose a province further north, under a warmer
climate. The southern regions, particularly the two mentioned provinces, would be adequate to Europeans,
because there, the heat is not so intense, facilitating their way of life, the planting of European fruits, as well
as cereals, vegetables, being also convenient to raise livestock. Thus, the immigrant, especially the Swiss
one, would not have to struggle to adapt”.

Davatz commented that he had difficulties to accomplish his task because his debts to Vergueiro & Co.
were accumulating. He confided to Mr. Lutz that so far, he owed one conto and six hundred and fifty thou-
sand reis and that counting the three aggregates, his family consisted of six people above the age of ten and
five individuals below this age range. He mentioned other obstacles, such as surveillance on the colonists’
correspondence by the farm direction, prohibition of travels, etc... - “Nor can I share my goal with the direc-
tors because, probably, if I did ask such questions they would close all ways and doors. The farm lords do
not like to hear plans about the formation of such communities. They prefer to have all immigrants in their
hands. So, I am in every way impeded and tied. In this situation of mine, I put to you the most gentle and
urgent request, that is, to present this most important issue to a man of knowledge and influence, perhaps
the Swiss consul, a member of the Ministry or, finally, some reliable citizen, the following questions:

1) Would the State cede enough suitable and fertile land on a healthy location to house several hundred
orderly people, confessed evangelicals, who wish to found a community in the provinces of Parana and Rio
Grande do Sul?

2) After encouraging the formation of such community, would the State facilitate the import, without
taxes, of new and old appliances, tools and equipment for the residents of the community, or would they tool
up the aggregates in some other way, so that they could pay for this benefit in installments?

3) If I was allowed to lead Swiss emigrants to one of the two provinces mentioned above, more speci-
fically to the community that would be founded there, could I, like the Vergueiro House in Santos, receive
certain remuneration and be certified and authorized by the Government as import agent?

4) What steps should I take to accomplish this proposal?

Please, I beg you to provide, as soon as possible, the answers to these four questions and inform me ur-
gently. If they are partly or completely positive I need to know, as fast as possible, to try and provide the mo-
ney needed to pay my debts, and to establish myselfin another location in order to start work without delay.




—— - -

Obviously, the future community would be subject to the determinations of the State Constitution and
the laws of the country. The money that emigrants would need Jor their installation would be advanced by
their respective Swiss communities. I've resorted to your kindness so much and have made so many de-
mands, that I almost do not have the courage to send you this letter. However, I still need to ask you another
question: - I'm about to finish writing a relatively extensive travel description, a short report destined to the
eleven communities in Graubtinden ', as well as several letters to individuals. I wish to dispatch them to
Europe, but, as they have told me, if I addressed them directly to Switzerland, these documents would never
leave Brazil. For this reason, I ask you, Could I send you this printed material so that you could be kind
enough to dispatch them by mail, from Rio de Janeiro?

In my position, I cannot do otherwise, I need to bother someone and require help, for this reason I turn to
a Christian. Forgive me for making one more request “... - “Have you received news from Europe? It would
be a miracle to know how our people are dealing with the wars, the rise in the cost of living, etc... I could
edit a weekly magazine, similar to the Christian People Post of Basel. Do you have any idea how much it
would cost to publish it?

Finally, I wish God may bless you and protect you and your dear Jfamily, especially at this moment de-
vastated by diseases and injustices. May His angels protect you! “

Davalz concluded the letter by requesting absolute secrecy lo the addressee.

- “Yours sincerely, with affectionate greetings

Ybicaba, October 20, 1855

Thomas Davatz, colonist and schoolmaster at Ybicaba, Province of Sao Paulo”

' : @ bouts of this
The correspondence had the following atiachment.: “For me to k_eep qalm al?out the wherea
letter, I beg yof to kindly inform me on the first post, if you have received it, and if you can resend tl?,e re_por_ts
and l,etters to Europe. This is extremely urgent. About the other issue, the foundqtzon ofa commun_zty, it will
probably not be possible for you to give me an immediate reply. I'm sure you will be devoted to this issue as
soon as possible.

So that your letters to my person are not violated, I beg you to send them to the following addressee:

g ‘ ‘g/uq/‘/-/
Dr. Joseph Cooper Reinhardt b ‘v RS "7
Limeira - Province of Sao Paulo” ¥ i ; D i, :.5:/7;, -
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Yours devoted and grateful / ;
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“To Sir Gustav Lutz, trader in Rio de Janeiro
Ybicaba, February 20, 1856
Dearest Mr. Lutz,

Diseases and other inevitable obstacles have prevented me, so far, to acknowledge the receipt and thank
you warmly for sending your friendly letter, dated November 22, 1855. Please receive, now, my deep grati-
tude for your benevolent interest, which is so amicably expressed in your letter informing me the news. You
will see that I am badly in need of them. I should respond {0 you on some Points, but as I hope to see you soon,
T will save some due responses, and go straight to what has oppressed me for some time. You may deduct by
the requests 1 made in the two letters to the Small Council of Graubtinden and to gentlemen v
ther Wilhelm and Father Ludwig. Please read these two letters and just totally believe in me, because I have
not requested help without advice. Oh! How T wish I could and had the authorization to disclose my entire
situation! But I cannot do so. Our director told me sternly that I should not underestimate him, stating that
he had the power to find out to whom and what I have written. He is more than secret police. If it weren’t for
the Lord God my solace, help and support, I really wouldn’t be able to find a way out. And what has led me
to this situation? Certainly nothing, except having scrupulously reported the local circumstances, which
fairly illuminates some points, on which I would still like to keep a veil for a long time. However, it fell into
the hands of our director through Dr. Gattiker, from Sao Jodo do Rio Claro, who had introduced himself as a
good friend. This has been my offense! For this reason I have been threatened with perpetual imprisonment
and placed under police surveillance and I am subject to being victimized by something worse. They have
also found out that I wrote to you once and scolded me for it. The director told me that he is aware of every-
thing. To this letter and its attachments I hope to have found a safe way. If perhaps I'm mistaken, I mean, if
my letters fall into the hands of the colony’s director, a friend of his, or the Vergueiro House, my God! May
the Lord preserve me with mercy and may my letters find the right way, open ears, hearts with compassion,
goodwill and charitable hands! Oh yes, dear Mr. Lutz, please, also do for me whatever you are able to. Please
talk to your good friends at the Swiss Benevolent Association in Rio de Janeiro, if you are really convinced
that its members shall maintain total secrecy, until I am safe. For God’s sake, on my behalf beg to some
noble philanthropist to give immediate help to a poor man who innocently came to a sad and dangerous
situation, and to be gracious to his innocent family. As you may see, I first asked the help of Graub[inden
and surely it will come. If this help comes from Switzerland, there will be considerable time before it arrives,
and during this waiting period, my debts will grow consideradbly, as will difficulties. Soon, I will deliver my
coffee and reap my crop. For this reason, I am making an urgent and amicable request that I shall be helped
as soon as possible and, God willing, next March, or at the latest in April, I shall advance to Rio de Janeiro
and escape. Perhaps the Lord will touch this or that heart and grant a poor and troubled family with a gift.
Even if this does not happen, I hope that someone, especially the Swiss Benevolent Association can help
me with sufficient advance, or to put up bail to the Vergueiro House, so that we may be rescued. If would
be a loss to remain here. As I hope for the gift of God, I have nothing to fear. Surely, He has put me into this
situation, so I am not discouraged. Surely, He will release me without harming anyone and without cau-
sing disadvantage because, first, I shall certainly count on the help of Graubiinden, second, I believe that
my God will lead me happily home, where I will present my report and travel report before the authorities
and the people, without passion and exaggeration, but totally true and open, and third, if my difficult and
wonderful behavior is known, certainly Christian love in Graubiinden and throughout Switzerland, mainly
in Basel, will give me the pleasure of finding many gifts”... “If all Christian philanthropists, especially the
Swiss Benevolent Association, could consider all this, taking into account that they have helped impostors,
and decide to listen to a poor, gifted child of God erying out for help, no doubt, I will thank them. So, I hope
that my request will not be rejected. May God lead you and all parties whose eyes and ears might receive
my request to accomplish my rescue, and richly reward all merciful charity in time and deeply! As I do not
know if I can take my request directly to the Swiss Benevolent Association, I willnot doit, I beg and autho-
rize you, dear Mr. Lutz, to do everything to achieve the menlioned objectives on my behalf!

Finally, please be so kind as to resend my two letters to the Small Council of Graubtinden through the
fastest way; whether it may happen through the Association or diplomatic channels, the better it will be.
Your answer to my letter you can address directly to me, to Ybicaba, in Limeira. Dr. Reinhardi moved a few
months ago, and I do not trust Dr. Gattiker anymore. But please, do not mention at all, in your reply letter,
that I have complained and intend to go home. Simply write if the answer to my request is affirmative or
negative. If it is affirmative, I ask you to attach the desired letter of bail. Should we sell here everything we
can to alleviate our luggage? Would it be better if we traveled by land or by Santos to Rio? The trip to Rio
frightens us more. We would be honored if we could find capable, orderly good sailors, on our sea voyage.

Do you know of a job for the poor [Joos] Davatz, who I did mention in my letter to Graubtinden? Should
I take him along to Switzerland?

Over the past two months, hasn’t a gentleman named v. Salis of Graubtinden, who was here at the Co-
lony, arrived in Rio de Janeiro? He belongs to a distinguished good family, and any advance made to him
would certainly be returned.

May the Grace of God be and stay with you and with your dear ones, and also glorify your devoted and
grateful




(a) Thomas Davalz, schoolmaster and colonist in Ybicaba”

Additional notes: p. 2 (x) - “The authorities and people of Switzerland are often told splendid reports
that lie. Would it not also be right to clearly show the truth, under the light of my experience? I firmly believe
that God has sent me mainly to accomplish this task.”

p. 3 (lateral): “Finally, when I'm in Rio, we could discuss the report as well as other issues. I am willing
to show all my wrilings, instructions, and be responsible for everything. But before that, I cannot do it.”

Letter sent for
Thomas Davatz
the entrepreneu
Gustay Lutz on
Februar

(part of first pag

On March el 1856 Davatz sent to Mr. Gustav Lutz several letters and one print. Here 1sthe mam correspon-
' dence in medem Portuguese

“Ybicaba, March 22, 1856
Dear Honorable Mr. Lutz!

As you can see, I've written the attached letters for some time. At the time, my hope to send them safely
was not materialized and so I had to wait for the right moment. Now I hope to have found a safe and reliable
way. As you can evaluate in the attached letters, my position and relationship are still the same. They have
been friendly with me again, however, I fear this kindness more than explicit anger. The few good friends,
whom I could find (including the colonist you mentioned earlier), have advised me to leave the colony as
soon as possible. Rush creates necessity. Based on the problems recently experienced by a colonist, I could
see not only the difficulty of sending letters here, but also of leaving the colony. The colonist had found a
good place in Sao Paulo where he intended to move. He had to give it up. No driver wanted to take his family
and luggage to the capital of the province. Old colonists have also realized that it is difficult to undertake
the journey here. Regarding this issue, I need you to seek advice with your friends and let me know your
position on the matter. Forgive me dear Mr. Lutz for causing you such hard work and terrible nuisance. In
my bad and compromised situation, I need to seek help from good friends. Please forgive me and help me!

My desire, namely my return, I can surely trust to my faithful Lord Savior. In my prayers, He has given
me the certainty that I will go back and that He will give his rich blessing for my return. Even facing situa-
tions of war with the lords, the thing cannot be changed. - The Lord will provide and guide.

Your affectionate friend

(a) Thomas Davatz”
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clearly see that, at the aforementioned time, the di-
\at was not yet convinced that he should assist
aster of Senator Vergueiro Colony. Here

ation of the correspondence:

Logo of the
Consulate General

f Switzerland.

“Rio de Janeiro, April 9, 1856

To Mr. Gustav Lutz

In my opinion, the papers submitted. [ | to me are very important so that I can dare lo make a
decision or to pronounce a sentence, especially considering the few days left before we send the mail pouch
(diplomatic correspondence), plus the significant work, which, at the moment, have been pressing me from
all directions. Furthermore, the insinuations contained in the reports by Thomas Davatz are opposed to
everything I was told so far, by reliable, impartial fellows and by my acquaintances. However, I do not know
Mr. Davatz, bul judging by his letters, he seems to be more of a complaining woman than a man. With respect
to this behavior, Mr. von Salis, who emigrated in the same group, and recently returned to his homeland
with my help, acted the same way. Salis lived with us. He happened to be a distant relative of Gsell and a
friend of the Xavier and Salis families that I met in Chiir. For this reason, he had the opportunity and safety
to unburden without fear. Like Davatz, he had the same tearful tone of fear of death + prison. In a private
and more detailed conversation I had with Mr. von Steiger, I thought the reason for the unrest is, first, the
inability of the mentioned people, who knew nothing about colonization beyond what they read in the Swiss
Robinson! Mr. von Steiger agreed with my opinion and promised to get accurate and reliable information
on Ibicaba and Davatz. I have to wait for them.

In my opinion, Davatz is not so poor and needy to be entitled to the aid of our society, hence as president
of the Benevolent Society I had to refuse his request. As Consul General I cannot act, although I have been
named by the Federal Council, I shall probably not decide to accept this commission. To the Consul General,
such an important issue should also be worthy of reflection. As Heinrich David I cannot act, because Davatz
has addressed you. Therefore, based on my involvement in this matter, I must refuse. I would still like to
malke another observation to youw. I already knew the reports Davatz entrusted you, in fact, he sent similar
documents to Europe by Mr. Salis. My conversation with von Salis in an attempt to collect more detailed
and secure information about this important subject, has not led to any resulls and only reinforced my opi-
nion on too much exaggeration, lack of courage and inability by Davatz. If you have another opinion, based
on valid reasons, either by exact knowledge of the conditions in Ibicaba, or the character and credibility
of Davatz, whom is totally unknown to me, I beg you to lel me know, because 1 do not want to do injustice
to anyone. With regard to your request, as President of the Benevolent Society I can only rubricate before
receiving more secure data, which might indicate a procedure.

Yours sincerely with attention and dedication

(a) H. David”
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n May 25, 1856, Davatz wrote to Gustav

Lutz again. He mentioned that on April
26th, he had received a letter from the trader, da-
ted the 12th of the same month, and that it was torn
and open. After pouring into lamentations, which
| prefer to disregard not to bother the reader with
vain repetitions, the schoolmaster informed that
the sub-director of the colony apologized for having

by the schoolmaster, he assured that he had not
read it. Davatz wondered if he should believe in the
word of the man in charge of separating and delive-

ring the letters to the colonists, or take into account
the statement by Mr. Jonas, director of Senator Ver-
gueiro Colony, who had stated that he monitored
the colonists’ correspondence. Given this event, the
schoolmaster of Ibicaba wrote the following:

opened the mail by mistake, however, as reported

“To Mr. Gustav Lutz in Rio de Janeiro.
Ybicaba, May 25, 1856.
Honored Mr. Lutz!

Although I have been taken by the desire to believe in the possibility of carelessness, I feelinclined to ask
you that in the future the name Vergueiro should not be inserted in the address, but simply: Thomas Davatz,
colonist in Ybicaba close to Limeira, Province of Sao Paulo. Thus, the letters will remain in the town of Li-
meira and I will have to go there to rescue them. However, if the address mentions the name Vergueiro, the
letters will come to the local farm, and I would like to avoid that. In the future, could you please observe it
and also pass this information to Mr. Consul - General H. David. Should he write to me, I beg him to kindly
pay attention to the destination registered in the correspondence. If the facts to be communicated are very
important, I beg you and Mr. David to make a return receipt for delivery of the letter. The necessary expenses
I shall soon reimburse. With regard to the letter to Mr. Consul-General, I want to wait until more urgent and
important facts occur, because I do not want to cause turmoil. It would be against my principles. Certain
requirements and requests, which I would like to beg him, I did not, for I did not know whether I will receive
the assistance requested in the correspondence I sent on the 20th of February. If against all expectations I
do not receive help, there would be no reason for me to write to Mr. David; but I should have God’s support
to go to Sdo Leopoldo or to the new colony Santa Cruz, Province of Rio Grande do Sul. As the written and
oral reports state, these colonies are also in need of religious and school organization, and that would be the
most important thing to me. I was informed that the mentioned establishments are looking for evangelical
schoolmasters, and I would be glad if I could fill this gap and find an occupation, as well as a settlement for
my family, for us to make our living. Do you believe, faithful Mr. Lutz, that in the future, after I communicate
with Santa Cruz or Sdo Leopoldo, I could direct a request to the Swiss Benevolent Association in Rio de
Janeiro, so that they could kindly forward me the amount needed to pay off Ybicaba Farm before I move? I
have learned that this association was formed with the purpose of providing such help. So, with a little bit
of luck, such aid might not be denied to me, anyway, I got into this difficult situation unintentionally, and
for other reasons I cannot stay here much longer. Please strongly recommend me to these gentlemen, and
also tell me everything you know about that colony or what you may come to know without much effort. If
you may, please let me know the postal address of the director of Santa Cruz, as well as of the evangelical
parish there, however, with respect to the addresses, you do not need to make much effort, because in an
emergency I will find a way to submit the letters, without the names, just to the laudable directors and the
venerable evangelical parish in Santa Cruz, is it not true? I wish, however, that, if possible, please send me
Mr Follenweiden’s address, who spent considerable time here last year. I greatly admire him. If he founds his
own colony, I shall have complete confidence on its direction. In a simple way I will also give some replies
to your first letter. They are the following: Professor Dirr, as I learned here, really surrendered to drinking
and so he had to leave Ibicaba. This occurred for his involvement in the great theft of religious books and
writings. This material was sold in part here and elsewhere and the profit he spent on drink. After he left, he
wandered in greal misery for a long time, until he found a good placement, teaching French to two different
children for the sum of 800 thousand reis per year. After that, even his brother, the plumber, who had severed
ties with him, considering his appropriate behavior opted for reconciliation. Rumor has it, Mr. Durr has
also lost this placement due to continued drinking. Currently, I have no news of his whereabouts. According
to my judgment, the deposit of bibles built by your South American friend with our director is rarely used,
unfortunately. Regarding school and religion classes the situation here is terribly sad “ ... “Recently, on the
day of Pentecost, colonist Meier, a pen friend, whom I have mentioned earlier, began to read a sermon to
the local Protestants. He has been using the good books he has purchased from me, for example: Steinhofer
Glaubensgrund, Riegers, literature grounded in passages from the Gospel of Matthew. I have begged God to
grant mercy and blessing to the project! About the good magazine, the Volksbote of Basel (People’s Post), I
beg you not to subscribe and not to send me copies of previous years. Why not, you should imagine. - I consi-
der your opinion about organizations on colonization and emigration in general very important. Finally, I
still ask you to let me know quickly, if possible, if this letter came into your hands in the right way. If I do not
receive response within a period of four or five weeks, I will resend another letter, through a faster roule, so
I hope. I thank you for the prompt attention to my many requests, and I beg you not to be angry for causing
you too much work again. God help me to get to a place where 1 needn’t bother you anymore.

1



With regards and friendly greetings

Yours grateful and submissive
(a) Thomas Davatz

“Will this friend of yours come here again this year? I would like to talk to him”.

Note on the side of the letter:

When did you work at the Mission House in Basel? During my youth in Bauggam (1835-1838), if I ‘m not
mistaken, there was a brother Lutz from the Canton of St. Gallen at the Mission House, a good acquaintance
of mine. Do you think you can be this person? Sorry for making this question”.




“Ybicaba, 25 Sept. 1856

To Mr. Gustav Lutz, in Rio de Janeiro

Long ago, I should have given an answer to your valuable letter of June 11th, and I did not do it because
at that time I was victimized by a large and intensive supervision by the directors of the colony. Now, as a
local friend might take the letter to you, I want to risk responding and informing you that I received your
letter quoted above on the 7th of July. Externally it was completely undamaged and in good order, but when
I opened it, carefully and gently, as usual, it was torn and disfigured internally, in summary, it clearly sho-
wed that it had been violated. I really do not know what other security measures I will, yet, have to suggest
to you in relation to addressing, but the accuracy of taking this step, as I wrote to you on my last letter as a
supposition confirmed by many colonists, has unfortunately proved to be true. May God forgive and change
the hearts of sinners, in whose hands we are entrusted and free us from this.

Your request for me to personally address the Consul General, I would like to accomplish. I shall have
on my behalf, as well as on other colonists’, much to write to him, but after such experiences with the letters,
I will not risk it. So, I beg you on my behalf and the colonists’ that you may ask Mr. H. David to prepare or
indicate a safe way for me to write to him and reveal all our concerns. This should be a great necessity, but
nearly impossible. Yes, please ask him to send help. Lately, my image has improved considerably. They ne-
ver cease to praise me and (reat me with great honor. Next month, I will start a German public school, I am
also responsible for ministering services on Sundays and feast days of the Protestant religion, for teaching
religion to adults, visiting the sick, when they wish, speaking at funerals, directing the male choir, anyway,
I have been invited to participate in everything, whereas formerly I used to be under police observation.
For all these jobs I will receive an annual salary of 430 thousand reis. Of this amount, the sum of $ 327 will
be paid by the colonists and $ 103 by the Vergueiro House. I should be very happy with my situation and,
in any case, I should have a great reason to thank God for the change and help, for I can hope not to incur
into more debts. Even though I now have better prospects for a year, still the honest and poor families who
urgently beg me to look for a way to help, will not be helped, consequently, the opinion that they have about
me could also change every day. As I can understand clearly, and several colonists have assured me, the
good treatment has only one foundation: my reports are feared and, at the moment, they want to keep me
with a good sense of humor. But this situation will not last long. Also, not the students’ parents will pay most
of the $ 327 for my salary, bul the colonists, Catholics and Protestants, who comparatively enjoy a betier
Jfinancial situation. A great dissatisfaction prevails with some of them. Faced with this situation, my public
employment could have a short duration. Because of this, you can easily deduce that I will need to seek, for
me and for other good parents, indebted like me, whose quantity could easily exceed the amount of 20 or 30
individuals, a better location, where we could find a more promising homeland, and create a decent system
of school and church. To that end, I and several honest men would like to address the Consul General with
a request, as soon as we know of a safe way to deliver it in hand. Again I beg you to ask the Consul General
on our behalf, to indicate such safe way. Please recommend us to Mr. David to do his best, and tell him that
of all the difficulties, the hardest is not being able to tell him how much we have suffered. Oh! A request con-
cerning emigration to the local colonies is also needed. The way some Swiss communities encourage their
poor through payment of travel expenses for emigration, or at least grant them resources to gel rid of those
who are inconvenient, is certainly disgusting, but I know municipalities, including my native community,
in which the conditions of the local colonists were described so convincingly and irrefutably that they,
with the laudable purpose of providing their poor with a better lasting existence, will give them the means
to travel, and in part have already done it”. Davatz commented on the need to demoralize the emigration
agents, disclosing in the Helvetic communities the cruel methods and the difficulties faced by immigrants
in the Brazilian colonies”. We should be able to shut up these unscrupulous agents, but it is so difficult! May
God help us!

I thank you for not having commented my actions with Mr. José Vergueiro and urgently ask you to con-
tinue doing the same. I ask you again to keep my issue private. With the Consul General you can talk about
everything I have written, and if necessary I will write to him further on, but with other people I beg your
utmost care.

The attached letter belongs to a woman here, it is addressed to her parents and siblings who live in Swit-
zerland. She addresses family issues and does not engage much in others. Could you be so kind as to deliver
it safely to the post office, so that it can, if possible, arrive to ils destination quickly? This lady has already
sent a letter to her family, but they did not receive it, therefore it would be very important for this second
letter to arrive to ils destination quickly.

That’s all, fornow. [strikethrough excerpt] and kindness, for which I present to you my friendly grati-
tude, in the future [strikethrough excerpt] to be recommended, and confirm receipt of this letter as soon as
possible, as well as its attachment, but in which the greatest [strikethrough excerpt] is observed. [corroded
excerpt]

Warm greetings
Yours devotedly

(a) Thomas Davatz “.




“To Mr. David ¥
Consul General of the Swiss Confederation in Rio de Janeiro.

If only were the undersigned and most colonists not under such sad.conditions as to need to address
this letter to your high office, they would really not dare to bother you with sueh an important request. The
condition in which we find ourselves and the great confidence we have in your person and post, encourage
us to start, through this correspondence, an extremely important work for us and many others. Moved by an
even greater hope, since we: 1.) have heard rumors and truly believe that the Imperial Government intends
and strives to transform the free European immigrants, happy residents of this fertile land, into owners and
citizens, and does not want to let them fall into a class of people that almost resembles slavery, like an egg to
another; like us 2.) are clearly aware that, in relation to them, on whom our step could fall like a dark light,
we are in full legal right and shall not let any injustice grieve them, which could befall us: 3.) rely mainly on
the omnipotent help of our merciful God, in whose name we have also started our important work.

In these lines, to demonstrate the full range of what we seek and desire, the reading as well as the wri-
ting for us, would be monotonous; especially the statutes in sufficient delail, we simply beg you, decent and
earnestly for God’s sake that you shall go with our desire before the Imperial Government of Brazil, that
you shall represent us before them with all the strength of your position and post and on our behalf may ask
them to welcome our request, which includes those that in consequence of a favorable response would join
us to take part in what we require, according to § 4 of our statutes; may the government give us ways and
means to be able to achieve what we according to § 2 have put as the aim of our effort. To achieve our goal,
should it be necessary that you address the Provincial Government of Rio Grande do Sul, or in relation to
money and other steps. kindly on our behalf and request intervene in favor of your poor countrymen and
please follow all paths which might lead us to our goal. In order to do this, we grant you, more formally
through this letter, absolute power of atiorney.

Forgive us for asking you Consul General such a great request. We still do not understand the national
language sufficiently to come before the local authorities; in addilion, it is even difficult for the colonist to
have the power to dispatch more extensive letters to the authorities correctly. If these obstacles did not exist,
we would like to take the initiative and cause you less effort.

You will be surprised that from Ybicaba, an exemplary colony, has come such a request and will surely
think that we are dissatisfied or a kind of people who had imagined and dreamed that emigration would
be characterized by a lifetime of fun. We witness before God that it is not so. We do not want to praise our-
selves, nor-lo speak ill of our boss; but we ask you, as the Swiss Consul General, or the Imperial Government
to thoroughly investigate the local conditions to find answers to the questions that we list below, in part for
the colonists, in part for their-contracts and account books, in part for the administration books, and ulti-
mately, for the public announcements of the coffee price in Santos, as follows: 1.) How were the debts of the
colonists, who arrived here in the last 3 or L years, formed? 2.) What was the position of the debts of the entire
colony in the late 1853? and now? 3.) How large was the average debt of a family at the time? and how much
is it now? 4.) Currently, how much is the cost of food on the farm compared to the costyears agorand in other
places? and how have they been achieved? 5.) A piece of land to grow enough food needed for subsisience -
is destined to all colonists, and would it seem fair to the eyes of a righteous man that the lord of the colony
should charge and keep half the profits of any product sold? 6.) How has coffee been sold in Santos, and
what are the declared and calculated selling prices for the colonist? 7.) 3 alqgueires of coffee are necessary
for 1 arroba of dry and clean coffee bean, or not? What were the results obtained experimentally? 8.) How
mach do the colonists usually receive for 1 alqueire of coffee? 9.) How much was the achieved profit so far
with the coffee harvest of all the colonists together in a good year and a bad year? What was the average
profit for each family in both cases? 10.) Have the agreements of the colonists been punctually maintained
in relation to house rent and coffee calculation, etc.? 11.) Which coffee trees and how much profit do the new
colonists generally receive? Do the colonists, who received money for their trip to Brazil from their home-
land communities without interest, need to pay interest here or not? 13.) Does interest of 6% fall over the
goods and the money received from the farm, from the day of receipt? 14.) Is there freedom of information
on the local conditions, especially free correspondence between here and the old country? 15.) Can anyone
report freely and without danger about the local conditions, and what were the general experiences with
Sfaithful narratives? 16.) How has the good reputation of the system of local colonization emerged in the
past, and how 1is it maintained now? 17.) Are the measures and weights, with which the coffee harvested by
the colonists and the food delivered to them by the management of the farm, officially measured? And how
is this done?

We have reported these seventeen questions withdhe intention of suggesting an investigation by you and
by the government. We have also formulated a question to you and ask you to kindly answer it. Is it true that
the Imperial Government gave the Vergueiro House ten thousand reis as commission jor every person over
10years old who emigrate to Brazil and for every two children aged 1 to 10 years to enter the country? In our
agreentents it is written that we should not pay any hespital expenditure of the poor, i.e., medical expenses;
in this respectwe were warned; but nothing was mentioned about the credit of a commission.

If the answersto the above seventeen questions are cleared by people, official ways and sources, as
described above: we need not fear the judgment of.people who know the law; we are also convinced that
the Imperial Government shall authorize our request and take us somewhere and give us conditions, where
we do not have to agree with almost everything that is required of us, and we need not content ourselves
unconditionally with what we are given as a reward of our work, but quite the contrary, we could be en-
joying the merit of our work and also be happy with our lives. We beg once again for such investigation to be
made, if possible, quickly. We believe that it is appropriate to undertake it in such a way that it will not look
like it was sought and requested by us colonists, at least until we are saved from here and pulled out of the




terrible “chicaneries” to which we would be exposed. The situation would be very bad for us, especially for
the author of these lines and statutes, namely Thomas Davalz that previously, because of a report he wrote
accurately, was prevented from carrying out his desire to send it home. He was also placed under police
guard, threatened with life imprisonment and, at this moment, for him to be in good mood and satisfied with
the local conditions, he has been highly praised and encouraged by receiving for obvious reasons, honor in
abundance, and now the responsibility for the school, as well as for preaching at Sunday Masses, festive oc-
casions, teaching religious classes for the young, and coordinating the local male choir, with a fixed salary
of 430 thousand reis, paid by the Vergueiro House. Formerly the Vergueiros paid only 50 thousand reis for the
school and now 103 thousand reis. If he is made responsible for the opening of an inquiry, the situation for
this man (Davatz) could worsen considerably. However, even if this occurs, we will not give up our request
Jor an investigation. It is really necessary, and we do not want it to degenerate, because of all the colonists,
among whom, no doubt, unfortunately, many are the type who we do not want to admit in our future society,
Jor this reason we have also reserved in the statutes the right to property {...}.

Just a few more observations regarding our statutes. We have included a request aiming at the indica-
tion of a homeland in the Province of Rio Grande do Sul. We have done it because we heard that the weather
in the cited province is also better for Swiss and German, than the one here, that there are also types of
German cereal and fruils prosper on trees and the language, lifestyle, and in general the German way has
been strengthened. We have also appreciated all this. But in case, although we do not believe it, il is nol
possible for the government to give us a simple piece of good land in the mentioned province, we would also
be happy and grateful if we might receive at the local province, in a good place, the desired land. This is the
first observation; the second consists of the following: To objectify our purpose, to facilitate the receipt of the
necessary advance safely, we have included in our statutes (§ 5) a solidarity guarantee. But if the Imperial
Government or the Government of the Province of Rio Grande do Sul, or another person assumes the debts
and anticipates what is needed, without requiring the solidarity guarantee: indeed, it would please us. This
would lead to a good result, especially because some of the families who have no debt and also have some
money, usually belonging to the best homes, would join our society, coniributing for our colony to have a
greater chance of having a happy development, otherwise, these families would not join us. If we receive
this great favor, we will be careful to attract only correct and decent families, and will subject to a direction
chosen by the Government. Third observation: We cannot evaluate how many people would join us and
what would be the size of the land destined for this purpose. But il is likely that if we were granted the favor
mentioned in the second observation, our society could rise to at least thirty families, right at the beginning.
Ifthis happens, and we deeply hope that our colony may progress as desired, it is very likely that many cor-
rect and decent people from Switzerland will come and join us. The preparations for this were made nearly
two years ago. Thus, the number of residents in the colony could grow considerably in a few years, requiring
a large piece of land to meet the demand. Fourth observation: If the Consul General or the Government so
require, we have already recorded in the statutes that they can be modified. We are well prepared for such
modification. We know that we are not lawyers, trained to elaborate constitutions and laws. If they are es-
tablished otherwise, we will accept with gratitude. - So, these observations are enough.

May the Consul General be so kind as to keep this letter attached, in case we need defense, we could
receive it back. As we do not want to miss the next post, so we absolutely have no time to make a copy of it.
As to the statutes we will keep a copy in hand!

Your answer please address to Mr. Philipp Zumkeller, colonist at Ybicaba - Limeira, Province of Sao
Paulo and close it very well, more than usual. Previously, letters had to go through a dangerous cliff. To be
able to deliver this letter to you safely, as well as the attached statutes, we sent it to Mr. Lulz, recording the
aforementioned Zumkeller as sender, whose name is less well known. - To Mr. Lutz you can inform every-
thing. We beg you to treat our issue as privately as its very nature allows.

Finally, once again we request that you use for ourselves and better others, all the power of your position
and post, take our business to the right place before the Stale Government, and represent us with all your
strength there and elsewhere.

In joyful hope that this happiness can be shared with us, we sign with the greatest consideration

Ybicaba, October 16, 1856

Thomas Davatz, from Canton of Graubiinden, Switzerland

Johannes Schliltler, from Niederurnen, Canton of Glarus, Switzerland
Heinrich Schlittler, from Niederurnen, Canton of Glarus, Switzerland
Ulrich Riffel, from Stiifa, Canton of Zurich, Switzerland

Philippe Zumkeller, from Gratvach, Canton of Fribourg, Switzerland”

THE SHARECROPPDNG SSTEM AND THE

EUROPEAN
150 IMMIGRATION
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To Mr. Gustav Lutz, trader in Rio de Janeiro SN Y R it

Most honorable Mr. Lutz,

Before your letter of October 8th arrived safely, namely on October 17th, a long letter to Mr. David, the
Consul General, signed by me and several other colonists was delivered to the post office in Limeira. For
caution, we sent a brief notice to you and not directly to Mr. David. In my letter of September 25th, I reques-
ted a return receipt to the post office [ ], so that we could not have the slightest doubt that it had come
right into your hands. As I have not received any notice that the correct addressee received the aforementio-
ned correspondence and as recently there has been a daring and dangerous violation of the postal secrecy
near us, we feel free to ask you to tell us if that letter has reached its destination. Of course, if this has not
happened, we will complain immediately. Also we would be grateful if you kindly take the opportunity and
communicate how the Consul General has received our letter, if it has really reached Rio de Janeiro. We
would also like to know if the rumor that has been circulating here for some time, is true. They say a Swiss
delegate in charge of investigating the local colonies has come to Rio de Janeiro. We have noticed that the
staff of the farm is waiting for this visit, not with joy and gladness, but with fear and astonishment. Proba-
bly, in preparation for this fatal investigation, the prices of sugar and pork on the farm fell down, the former
decreased from 8 to 5 and the last from 12 to 8 vinténs per |[......J. We colonists will welcome the delegate with
great joy, expecting him to be a man who cannot be dazzled and bribed.

We feel obliged to give a warning to the Consul General as well as the Swiss Benevolent Association
regarding a colonist from Sao Jeronimo, an unruly man, who as we have heard, drinks, steals, chews loudly
and lies very well, moves from colony to colony and says he will take a letter to Rio to appear in person
before the Emperor and free the colonists from their pressure. He is called Felix Davatz, relatively tall, with
strong structure, black eyes, black curly hair, and protruding lips, especially the upper lip, a medium nose,
a round chin and black eyebrows. At times, he wears a thick beard and stutters a little. We do not remember
other details. He has a wife and two small children. The first, like him, knows how to lie, slander and steal.
Without the execution of these practices, they would have starved, however, through these arts they got the
food they needed, at least so far. The two children are worthy of compassion, and for me, the undersigned,
it is particularly difficult, because I ‘m the godfather of the youngest. I could not do anything for the benefit
of this boy who is almost two years old and his sister who is a little older, except instructing them about the
spiritual salvation. If this man comes to Rio, please do not mention this information, because in that case
he will take terrible revenge timely. For individuals, authorities and corporations (Consul and Benevolent
Association) not to suffer damage, and consequently will not have to deprive the poor of noble gifts, we be-
lieve it is necessary to warn them.

I received your letter from October 8th, intact and correctly, on the 26th of the same month, and I thank
you kindly for the information you provided. Your future answer, please kindly address to “Mr. Johann
Christoffel Salutz, tavern keeper in Limeira”. The streel and number of his house I do not know, howeuver, in
that small town it does not matter, because he personally goes to the post office and rescues his correspon-
dence. With this detour we can prevent your letters from arriving at the local farm. Do not be angry with us
for bothering you again and please help us as much as you can to achieve our certainly good and important
purpose.

With affectionate greetings and the assurance of our highest esteem, I sign our request and on behalf of
all the colonists who signed our previous letter.

Devotedly

(a) Thomas Davatz - Colonist and schoolmaster”,
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As I've mentioned in other books, in the late
~\1856, at the moment when Davatz infor-
med Senator Vergueiro that he had sent his report
to the Swiss authorities, there was such a change in
mood that it caught the attention of the colonists.
Swiss and Germans acted to support the schoolmas-
ter, who guaranteed that the sharecroppers only
wanted to carry out an investigation to evaluate
the relationship between colonists and bosses. The
farmers accused the sharecroppers of exaggerating
the methods employed to voice their complaints
and showed concern on the fact that they were ar-
med. From the year 1857, the Swiss Confederation
and the Brazilian Government sent emissaries © to
undertake investigations in the sharecropping colo-
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nies of the Province of Sdo Paulo, especially those

-~ that hoﬁé‘.ed Swiss "citizéns hired and ’transfe_rre'd
~ by Vergueiro & Co. We have already published, in

our latest books, the details of these evaluations

_ conducted in dozens of colonial settlements. Tho-

mas Davatz, leader of the rebellion in Ibicaba, was

deported. The impact of this event in Europe and

the awareness of irreqularities in the colonies in-

fluenced the management and continuation of the
sharecropping system, contributing significantly
to discredit it. The rebellion fomented positive and

negative articles in German and Swiss newspapers.
Obviously, we do not intend to repeat the issues al-

ready published in our books, but rather present to

the reader other facts related to immigration by the

Sharecropping System.

(1) Footnote with list
of emissaries and dates

 of investigations.

First pages of the
German and Swiss
newspapers “Allgem.
Auswanderungs
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Rudolstadt and

: Aﬁs‘wandcnmgsblatt

(Switzerland) (XIX
Century).



Deputies and Senators Discuss the Sharecropping System

any Brazilian deputies and senators cal-

led the Vergueiros speculators and others
believed that their peers should respect Senator
Vergueiro, who had rendered outstanding servi-
ces to the development of Brazil. Some legislators
criticized the government for having, so far, inves-
ted large sums in the formation of nuclei based on
donation of land to foreigners, and allocating only
crumbs to subsidize immigration by the Sharecrop-
ping System. Following the prohibition of trafficking
Africans, although the practice continued illegally,

the country went through an economic revolution
and experienced a significant crisis. The farmers of
S3o Paulo tried to fill this gap by buying slaves from
the Northern provinces for exorbitant prices. The
small crop, cultivated on the coast, lacking labor,
produced less, causing rise in prices and scarcity of
foodstuffs. From 1856, politicians understood the
urgency of taking decisive action to hire workers,
mainly for the coffee plantations. Agriculture re-
quired ready aid without which the country would
suffer significant economic damages.

Slaves on Ibicaba Farm. Jos¢ Vergueiro Album. Image Bank of Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center - Dr. Lotte Kéhler Collection




The Rebellion of Sharecroppers in the Colonies of Ubatuba

he rebellion of sharecroppers in Ibicaba Farm

caused obstacles to the import of European
immigrants. Colonists claimed that they were being
harmed, and the way things were going, they would
never pay off their debts. Sharecroppers established
in numerous colonies complained of mistreatment
and denounced the partiality of justice when jud-
ging their causes. On the other hand, deputy Barbo-
sa da Cunha in his speeches in the Council of Rio de
Janeiro on the 17th and 26th of August 1857, con-
sidered that the solution adopted by the Imperial
Government to meet the demands of the sharecro-
pping colonists of Ubatuba had fomented compli-
cations and rebellions in other colonial settlements.
The legislator said that the municipality housed
colonies with sharecroppers imported by Vergueiro
& Co. He mentioned the examples of Nova Olinda
and Perequé-Mirim, both owned by Major Francis-
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co José de Castro, and Santa Cruz owned by Colonel
Luiz Antonio Pereira, as well as others, founded by
Frenchmen who had settled many years ago. Bar-
bosa da Cunha commented that Santa Cruz and
Perequé- Mirim marched with regularity, however,
Nova Olinda Colony had no prospect of a future
that would compensate the sacrifices of the coloni-
zer and satisfy the hopes of its aggregates, whose
aversion to work was recognized. In this settlement,
as reported by the deputy, some colonists seized
animals belonging to a neighbor, claiming they had
caused damage to their crops. The captors themsel-
ves evaluated the losses and demanded payment
to cover them. As the owner of the animals did not
agree, the colonists refused to return them. The nei-
ghbor appealed to the police authority that sent his
registrar to convince the sharecroppers to release
the animals that they had retained by force. Howe-
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ver, they refused to obey him. The authority issued
a search and seizure warrant sending two bailiffs to
the colony. The sharecroppers offended one of the-
se representatives. To ensure compliance with the
warrant, the police chief resent the bailiff accompa-
nied by a force. Even so, they resisted, culminating
with the arrest of some colonists. According to the
deputy's testimony, the sharecroppers, advised by
a foreigner known for disturbing the colonies, did
not address their complaints to the Imperial Gover-
nment, but to Mr. Heinrich David, Consul General of
Switzerland in Rio de Janeiro. They referred to the
local authorities as capricious and complained that
they had been victimized by violence. Alerted by
the consul, the Government advised the President
of the Province of Sdo Paulo to investigate the oc-
currence. Not willing to rely solely on local autho-
rities, the president ordered the law judge of the
district to go to Ubatuba. Still according to the tes-
timony of Deputy Barbosa Cunha, the police chief
responded to the accusation in the most complete
and satisfying way and the president of the province
transmitted all the information to the Imperial Go-
vernment. The law judge reported that the colonists
had resisted the action of justice, then were sued
and legally arrested. He acknowledged that there
was sufficient evidence to convict the resisters, but
as they were foreign colonists he acquitted them,
not to discourage Swiss emigration to the country.
New representations, all fomented by the colonists
of Nova Olinda, were addressed to the Consul of
Switzerland. Mr. Heinrich David talked to Councilor
Pedreira, Minister of the Empire, who was willing to
end these controversies, and allowed the diplomat
to visit the colony. Deputy Barbosa da Cunha belie-
ved that “if the minister knew the temper of that
consul he would not have acted that way. So far,
all the colonies of the municipality were in perfect
quiet, except Nova Olinda, populated by many idle
and turbulent individuals. On September 11, 1856,
the Swiss consul arrived in Ubatuba accompanied
by Dr. Sebastido Machado Nunes, interim inspec-
tor of the Department of Public Land. They visited
Nova Olinda and acknowledged that the lands were
not of good quality, which was not a new fact. Ar-
rangements had already been made by the owner,
who had removed part of its colonists to another
farm with crops and new lands. However, Mr. H. Da-
vid exhibited evidence of his prevention, only giving
attention to the colonists. He disregarded the infor-
mation provided by the owner and such were his
exaggerations that sometimes Dr. Machado Nunes
was forced to counteract them. His action should
have been limited to that place, however, he deci-
ded to visit all the colonies of the municipality”...”In

Santa Cruz, the diplomat acknowledged that the
lands were magnificent; that the coffee plantations
were new; that the colonists were well accommo-
dated and that the food was satisfactory. The direc-
tor general of public lands stated in his report that
the quality of the colonists who were there was not
good in general, however, some behaved regularly
and it would be possible that in the future, the es-
tablishment could show an advantageous result.
Naturally, some colonists were satisfied and others
not. Two or three who had directed their complaints
to the consul, seeing that he supported them in the
strongest terms, began making exaggerations and,
little by little, the colonists, who the day before, had
been very happy, also began to make complaints.
Without waiting for the explanations of the owner,
who was absent, and not attending to Dr. Machado
Nunes' reflections, Mr. David concluded his inves-
tigation. He told the colonists that their contracts
were not being met and that he would force the
farmer to pay them compensation. The Consul of
Switzerland promised that he would get magnifi-
cent land from the government elsewhere, in order
to remove the colonists from that locality. The co-
lonists deluded themselves with the transfer to a
better place and forgiveness of their debts”..."These
promises caused disorder. The day after the consul's
departure, all refused to work”. The legislator said
that if there were any irregularities, the issue should
be brought to the courts of the country that were
appropriate for judging disagreements between co-
lonists and farmers. Thus, in the opinion of Deputy
Barbosa da Cunha, the result of the diplomat’s visit
to Ubatuba was as follows: - “On the occasion of his
arrival, on the 14th of September, there had been
only a single colony disgusted by the poor quality of
the land, and after his return to the court, all colo-
nists were under insubordination!” In consequence
of the efforts undertaken by the Consul Heinrich
David, the Imperial Government sent the steambo-
at Santa Cruz, with the interim inspector of public
lands, in order to deal with the farmers the trans-
ference of the colonists to the Province of Espirito
Santo. The deputy unburdened: - "I regret that, whi-
le these foreign colonists received land in another
province, with six years to pay off their debts, the
employers suffered another treatment, to the point
of being imposed a forced transference, a harsh tre-
atment to our farmers who at the expense of their
sacrifices established colonies in the country!”... The
deputy considered that this event discouraged far-
mers from the north who had intended to invest in
colonization. “The colony of Mr. Novaes Cunha, in
Lorena, was also dissolved in a singular way. As I was
informed, the colonists set fire to the coffee planta-
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tions. Burdened with ticket debts and knowing that
others had government funding for transportation
and donation of land, the colonists from the colony
of the Viscount of Galard Bearn did not want to work
by the Sharecropping System anymore, and parted
causing serious losses to the owner”.

| have found in the Swiss Federal Archives an
official letter sent on September 29, 1856, by Mr. H.
David, Consul General of Switzerland, to the Brazi-
lian Minister of Foreign Affairs. We have translated
this document that allows the acknowledgement of
another version of this fact. “The undersigned takes
the liberty to solicit serious attention of the Imperial
Government on the event in Ubatuba, on very serious
issues, whose solution can influence the European
emigration to Brazil. Informed by Dr. Sebastido Ma-
chado Nunes that he had received an order from the
Minister of Interior to go to Ubatuba, to get informa-
tion on the state of the colonies established on lhe
outskirts of this city, the undersigned considered his
duty to accept the invitation of the Imperial Govern-
ment ... Upon arriving in Ubatuba, Dr. Sebastiao Ma-
chado Nunes, Mr. Alves and the undersigned went to
the farm, recently named Nova Olinda, which people
used to call “Old Farm” for many years, owned by Mr.
J. E de Castro. " Mr. Castro houses in Nova Olinda
and somewhere else two leagues away, called “Bairo
da Serra”, sixty-eight Swiss (twenty-three died befo-
re our arrival), who were sent by the Vergueiro House
& Co. from Santos. May Your Excellency allow me,
before going into details about Nova Olinda, to talk
about this new kind of dealing or trafficking that
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Vergueiro & Co. invented, some time ago, and thal
they explore so advantageously for their pecuniary
interests. Senator Vergueiro had conceived the Sha-
recropping System and the prosperous Ibicaba Co-
lony is an irrefutable proof of the noble and generous
views of His Excellency. Unfortunately, the director
of Vergueiro House & Co. in Santos ¥ seems to have
abandoned the Senator’s system, establishing him-
self not as colonizer, but as emigration agent, using
his father’s honorable name to atiract colonists, who
were, then, lransferred Lo whoever paid them a com-
mission of ten thousand reis per head, withoul being
interested in the fate of these poor people. Families
that consist of numerous smaller members were,
thus, burdened with fifty thousand to one hundred
thousand reis. The contract signed in Switzerland
does not mention this tax that is not based on justice
and the rights of peoples. I claim for the removal of
the ten thousand reis per head inserted in these new
conlracts. In Switzerland, they had promised to es-
tablish the colonists in the highlands of Sao Paulo.
Upon arriving in Brazil, they were delivered else-
where, without their consent and even without wor-
rying about their well-founded protests, they were
charged eight thousand reis per head for this far
journey to Ubatuba. In the name of justice, I protest
against the eight thousand reis per head unfairly
charged to the colonists. The Old Farm of Matinha
pompously christened as Nova Olinda is mainly just
used and barren land, the coffee trees, which the fate
of the engaged sharecropping colonists entirely de-
pend upon, are old and do not produce enough to
give a chance of benefit. Unlike the green aspect, pe-
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culiar to Brazilian farms, more than half of this pro-
perty resembles an African desert, peppered with
some shrubs burned by the sun ... All conditions of
the contract have been violated. Instead of being a
good land, barren land, old coffee (rees and not very
fertile; instead of good food, the quality of the food is
below any criticism, the coffee is harvested by
blacks, and the colonists overcharged with values
that they do not owe. Having agreed with Dr. Sebas-
tidgo Machado Nunes, and to prove to the Govern-
ment the goodwill of the Consulate General I give up
all claims for damages which could be due to the co-
lonists by the manifest breach of contract, deman-
ding only the cancellation of the same on the follo-
wing bases: - 1) Removal of the fee of ten thousand
reis per head charged by Vergueiro & Co. - 2) Remo-
val of all debts, with which the colonists were 0ver-
charged for their supplies - 3) Instantaneous transfe-
rence of colonists to another establishment.

I take the liberty to observe
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cellency, that the arrangement I propose should be
accepted not only for the colonists in Nova Olinda,
but that this should also include the colonists who
left Mr. Castro, with his own consent, before and after
the arrival of the Chief of the Imperial Government.
If the state of the colonies of Mr. J. F Castro have a
non encouraging aspect, also Santa Cruz Farm, ow-
ned by Mr. Luiz Antonio Pereira, where he has forty-
-one Swiss colonists (fourteen died), offers a specta-
cle that is heart-tearing. Human forms withered by
maltreatment and poverty begged to leave Bragzil,
and on behalf of all that is most healthy, to be remo-
ved from the unhappy place where they are whining.
It is true, but difficult to prove, that the colonists of
Mr. Pereira starve and require supplies to the cha-
rity of the inhabitants of Ubatuba, and that the colo-
nists established on the farm of Mr. Robillard have
contributed several times to meet the most urgent
needs of their unfortunate compatriots. It is also a
fact that during their disease, no medical care was
provided to them. We saw a man who lost an eye
due to anemia and two sick children because this
shameful neglect has made them blind! As to the
mistreatment, from what I saw and heard, I am
convinced that it happened. The first director of
the farm, a German, told us that he left the pro-
perty because he could not comply with the or-
ders of Mr. Pereira to hit the colonists. Regarding
the latter, all of them swore in tears, they would
rather die than remain in this sad place. They
told me that a few hours before our arrival in

the colony, the colonist Heinrich Speich was
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LSFA - Bern - Mr. Mazargao is beginning to put into slavery two
Swraeriand colonies of Mr. J. F Castro, one in Perequé-Mirim
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where, according to him, everything is going won-
derfully and the other in Nova Olinda, that accor-
ding to the chief’s opinion, there are only lazy and
fugitive colonists. I disagree with Mr. Mazargao, Pe-
requé Farm is in no beller situation than the other
one. Long ago, encouraged by Mr. Castro, the colo-
nists looked for other jobs, therefore Perequé is not a
happier colony, just because the colonists are no lon-
ger there. The sharecroppers of Nova Olinda, so mis-
judged by the chief, contrary to what was said, are
all there, except those whose death has rescued them
from misery. M. Mazargao is unfair, even when he
speaks on the fertility of the farm, which we all know
is not true. He is unfair when speaking about the re-
sistance of the colonists, in the famous case of the
captured animals. We saw the man injured by the
soldiers, the terrible instigator, whom they wanted to
blame for the abuse of weapons. He is a poor, slow,
weak and feeble man, who according to some, did
not serve the chief. Actually, the author of the whole
tragedy was Mr. Jose Dias Pacotilha, chief of the sol-
diers. While riding a horse and armed with a sword,
he was the one who took the initiative to attack the
colonists. I protest, therefore, against this inaccurate
information and, it cannot and should not, in any
way, affect the decision of the Government of His Im-
perial Majesty. The undersigned has no right, nor
any desire to meddle in the business that only be-
longs to the Government of the country. However, it is
his duty to make the necessary arrangements with
the Government of the country, so that these indigni-
ties, abuses and excesses of zeal that have occurred
in the unfortunate business of Ubatuba, shall not be
repeated. By ending the conscientious report of what
I saw and observed in Ubatuba, I cannot conceal
from Your Excellency that the steps and measures of
the Imperial Government should be quick and wi-
thout delay. I take the liberty to make you aware
that if the Consul General did not require compensa-
tion for the poor mistreated and deceived colonists,
he expects the same generosity of the Imperial Go-
vernment. I hope that the unfortunate and degrading
event of Ubatuba can be forcefully terminated as re-
quired by the generosity, justice and clear interest of
Brazil. The undersigned takes this opportunity to
renew to the Minister the assurance of his high es-
teem and perfect consideration. (a.) H. David”

In his speeches at the Imperial Council in 1857,
Deputy Barbosa da Cunha declared that the same
Swiss consul, who had caused the dissolution of the
colonies of Ubatuba, exerted great influence on the
existing confusions in the farms of Ibicaba, Sao Jero-
nimo, Bery and others. ®

- “When disturbances occurred in those esta-
blishments, the Consul General of Switzerland was
under immediate and active correspondence with
those colonists”. The head of the insubordination
movement was the schoolmaster Thomaz Davatz,
according to the deputy’s evaluation he was a man
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imbued in the most dangerous doctrines regarding
socialism. “"He was the instigator and the center of
those movements. | have, here, his writings to pro-
ve that the advice he gave the colonists was part of
a plan to contribute to the failure of colonization
in S3o0 Paulo. This schoolmaster was expelled from
the colony, came to court and was welcomed by Mr.
Heinrich David”. The deputy reported that Davatz
insinuated to the colonists “that they should set-
tle in some backwoods, where they could preserve
the language of their country, their customs and
not mingle with Brazilians, so that with the lapse
of time, they could form a larger population, pre-
serving their uses, their laws, and maybe also their
bonds of confederation. This is certainly a doctrine
that is not appropriate for the colonists”... Barbo-
sa da Cunha suggested that to ensure the future of
colonization, the imperial government should pro-
ceed with some severity to the mentioned consular
agent, whose acts disturbed the colonies and har-
med his own countrymen. He also submitted copies
of the letters sent by Dr. Heusser and Mr. Diethelm
to the Helvetic colonists informing them that Mr. H.
David wanted to negotiate with the government on
two bases: “1) If the Helvetic municipalities consent
to lose the advances granted to the families of Swiss
colonists in the Province of Sao Paulo, the govern-
ment will terminate the existing contracts between
them and the farmers, to establish them in areas
that the same government will give them for this
purpose. 2) If the Swiss communes refuse to lose
the advanced amounts, in this case, to ensure that
the colonists could obtain from the government, the
payment of the advances with our money and esta-
blish the colonists on land that the government will
give them”. The legislator commented: “Well, these
promises made by an agent of the Cantons and the
Secretary of the Consulate General of Switzerland
could and should have bad consequences”..."As
they are expecting the government to pay their de-
bts without charging interest, the colonists are cros-
sing their arms and awaiting removal to another
place... To reply to the exaggerated complaints by
Mr. H. David to the Imperial Government, officiated
after his return from the Province of Sao Paulo, the
former minister of foreign affairs sent him a note,
dated the 25th of October last year, written in the
beautiful language that Mr. Paranhos @ knows how
to employ, in which he refuted all his arguments
against the agents of Swiss colonists. How comes
gentlemen that the Imperial Government was the
first to recognize that these complaints were unfair,
and then finally accepted the colonists to be remo-
ved from Ubatuba? This has only occurred after they
consented that a particular colony was examined
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and visited by a man who should have been more
grateful to this evidence of deference. "On June 8,
1857, Heinrich David sent a note to his predecessor
commenting that the contracts celebrated betwe-
en the Brazilian entrepreneurs and the colonists,
when literally observed, were very advantageous
to the first ones. David also wrote: “"No protection
can the colonists expect from the judicial authori-
ties. As they do not understand the language of the
country, they cannot sustain their rights before the
Brazilian courts”. When referring to the sharecrop-
ping contracts in force at Ibicaba Farm, the diplo-
mat stated that the sharecroppers did not get any
useful results from their work, and that after three
or four years, they were much more indebted than
upon arriving at the colony. His statements echoed
in the Swiss Confederation, and in an official letter
sent on December 2, 1857, by Mr. Formery “to the
Viscount of Maranguape, he demanded attitudes
by the Brazilian Government to compel compliance

with the sharecropping contracts. Before the dis-
turbances in |bicaba Colony and the detailed report
undertaken by Dr. Heusser, after an inquiry made in
Senator Vergueiro Colony, Mr. Heinrich David used
to consider the Sharecropping System a solution to
alleviate the suffering of the poor who emigrated
from Switzerland to Brazil. ©

Politicians had different positions regarding the
applicability of the law of 11 October 1837 to the
sharecropping contracts. There was a disagreement
among the judges as to its employment and the at-
titude generated insecurity to the farmers.

Deputy Rodrigues dos Santos issued the follo-
wing opinion in the Council of Rio de Janeiro on the
17th and 26th of August 1857: “As the Honorable
Minister of Justice is present, who is responsible for
ensuring the security and defense of property, | shall
call his attention to this object because undoubtedly
the state of those colonies commits the interest of
our citizens and public safety.
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There are about twenty thousand foreigners, and
most of them heavily armed and protected by a law
practice that advocates against the action of the ow-
ners ... The Sharecropping System, the only one that
can save our current crop, still does not have a regu-
lation to judge matters between colonists and their
agents! Which safety or incentive will the citizen have
to establish a colony, if one day he will be forced to re-
port to a foreign consul, or will be forced to fight a go-
vernmentagent who alsorequires areport? If he beha-
ves badly as colonizer, the provision of the law should
be applied to him, butitis only fair that he should have
the same right against the contracted colonist, but to
comply with this, there should be a good law to gua-
rantee the interests of colonization”. Deputy Gaviao
Peixoto believed that to obtain colonists the farmers
should pay the cost of their tickets and transportation
to the farms, indeed they had to assume numerous
expenses. - "And what is the guarantee given to these
men? Certainly they should at least be provided with
means to force work on the colonist, who decides to
leave without cause or be absent before completing
the term of the contract or compensating the amount
owed. Moreover, we need to establish strong fines
and severe penalties against those who tempt and

rebellion into the colonies. In the Province of Sao Pau-
lo, the issue of the moment is colonization by the Sha-
recropping System or by salary, on which depends its
well-being in the present and its future prosperity. Ho-
wever, it shall collapse if effective and rapid remedies
are not wisely applied, if the additive is not accepted,
if the provisions of the law of 11 October 1837 are not
extensive to the contracts made by this system, if the
rights and obligations of the contracting parties are
not well-fixed, and finally, if the position of the owners
and farmers is not protected. The lack of legislation to
regulate these contracts in a positive way certainly
competes with the unpleasant occurrences which, in
December last year took place in Senator Vergueiro
Colony, the most important of the existing colonies
in the Province of Sao Paulo”. Deputy Gaviao Peixoto
stated there was a plan that threatened public order,
but the government, being aware of the fact, did not
try to fight it, and not even ordered those hundred
and fifty colonists to be disarmed! Trying to prove the
seriousness of the situation, he submitted official let-
ters sent by the municipal councils of the villages of
Rio Claro ® and Limeira * to the Vice-President of the
Province of Sao Paulo, expressing the concern of the
councilors regarding the mentioned event.

entice colonists, or introduce anarchy, disorder and

(1) The Municipal Council of Rio Claro forwarded to the Vice President what was deliberated by its members on 23 February 1857.
“Honorable Sir - We have fulfilled our duty in leading to the knowledge of Your Excellency the status of this municipality and adjacent
ones with respect to public safety, in full confidence that Your Excellency shall exert your power to accomplish it This municipality
abuts on the less depopulated side with the municipalities of Constituicio, Limeira and Mogy-Mirim, and on the other side comprises
the parishcs of Bethlem with 11 |t-aguc~& distance, of Brotas with 12 Ivagut‘&‘ and goes onto the munu‘lpa!it_\' ni':\r.\l'aquara, € xlcmling on
the left of the rivers Mogy-Guassu, Pardo and Parana, until converging with the Tieté River. And knowing that evildoers take refuge in
less populated places, where there is no power of authority, the drawing we just did shows that in this municipality their asylum begins,
whence it follows the need to bring to this village, a respectable force to destroy them throughout the extensive district, protecting
the neighbors as well. Such was the state of this locality, when new occurrences made this measure become more necessary and more
extensive. Your Excellency might be better informed about the event in Ibicaba Farm than we are, but what runs around here and is
known, is enough to terrify some and discourage others; and all that, when a large agricultural movement impressed by Vergueiro & Ca.
with import of colonists and the example of its practical application had seized the population, having already established many colonies
and planned others, We ignore the plot, but the indisputable facts are that the Swiss sharecroppers of Senator Vergueiro Colony organized
under the direction of a secret society, 1|1c_\ armed themselves, lming in cm'rmpondmcc with other colonies, counting not onl)' with
their cooperation, but also with the help of some slaves and unhappy Brazilians. They are planning to form a Free State. We are not afraid
of their achieving their damned purposes, but rather of the damage of disruption. The colonists are still proud and armed, it is essential
to disarm them and show them their impotence. This can only be done without bloodshed and with c]ignit}', with a respectable force,
and this is what we incessantly beg to Your Excellency, may God preserve you for many years. “Palace of the Municipal Council of Rio
Claro, February 23, 1857,

(2) At the end of February, that same year, the Municipal Council of Limeira Village informed the vice president of the province that
after the rebellion of the colonists in Ibicaba, public safety in the municipality was under threat and the population was scared. There was
news or rumors regarding a plan devised by the German sharecroppers and those of other colonies, also involving slaves, aiming at their
freedom. This news terrified the people, and especially the farmers. Councilors believed that to ensure the future of colonization and the
tranquility of the inhabitants of LimeiraVillage, it was important to send a police force and adopt legislative measures aimed at regulating
the execution of the Sharecropping System, whose purpose was to supply the crop with labor. “No wonder this movement has happened
since there are, in a small circle, more than three thousand foreign souls with only one profession! What surprises us is that we have been
50 happy so far, without an unlucky star to muddy the horizon, as we now see. The council rests on the zeal of Your Excellency that in
view of the above, you shall vote on the measures that claim our position. May God blessYour Excellency for many years, as it should be.
Palace of Municipal Council in Limeira Village, in extraordinary session on 25 February, 1857. - lllustrious and Honorable President of
the Province. - Antonio Roberto de Almeida. - Manoel Ferraz de Camargo. - Dionysio José Franco. - Antonio Manuel de Abreu. - Manoel

Ferraz Pacheco. - Jodo José de Sampaio Junior. - José Antonio Rodriguez. - Conformed. - Secretary Andre Antonio de Lima”.
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that the police chief had addressed to the council

" '?“Llh; Sr;"'" the following month and their respective replies.
;o e I do not usually take stands with respect to facts
federal / v :

Colis contained in historical documents. However, consi-

dering the existing coincidences between the offi-
cial letters of the councils of Limeira and Rio Claro,
we can imagine that perhaps the “diabolical plan”

mentioned by the politicians of Limeira and Rio Cla-
ro could have been architected. On the other hand,

there is also a non remote poss:b:l:iy that a farmer
~ orinfluential politician could have been orchestra-
ting a plot with the participation of the councilors

of the mentioned communities, in order to discredit

The legislator also showed the official letter

Tavares Bastos requested the same information
from the councils of Limeira and Rio Claro, on 14

~ March I857. He inquired about the status of those

municipalities and their colonies in relation to pu-

blic security and questioned whether the rebellion
held in Ibicaba had been characterized as a fact li-
~ mited to doubts between the farm management

and the sharecroppers, without the participation of

individuals belonging to the surrounding colonies.
~ Tavares Bastos also showed interest in the opinion
 of the councilors concerning the poss1ble existence

of a criminal intent of any kind, and finally, what ac-

 tion or ideas the two councils considered adoptable
_to keepthe colonies in the indispensable conditions
ttxe claims of :the_ caiumsts Upan hemg mfgrmed by

of order, at that moment and in the future. Bastos
qu e wggéstlons to reguianze ‘the commit-
: contracts, as well as thesr effectwe exe-
cution ccmstdenng the interests of the
poiice and justice, so that the measures
adopted could not embargo the mo-

' 1857, the Countll of Rio Claro replied to
~ that letter. The councilors reiterated
~ the information they had sent to the
~ vice president of the province, on Fe-
bruary 23rd of that same year. They
also reported that, at that moment,

_ the status of their municipality was
_less frightening; however, it was
not normal. They were surprised

~ at the fact that the sharecroppers

thout a fair cause (at least appa-
rent), had armed themselvesand

~ threatened public peace, since
they had received such recogni-
zed good treatment from their
owners. The legisiators attri-
buted these disturbances to
strange instigations that pos-
sibly aimed at the execution
of some sinister plot. They
believed that there was an
arrangement among seve-
ral colonies and it was well
known that, at that time,
immigrant sharecroppers
were talking about the
advantages they expec-
ted from the partial rup-
ture of their contracts.
The councilors feared
that the colonists mi-
 ght be planning any
g further action. They
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were still armed, fact that was threatening public
peace. The council of Sao Jodo do Rio Claro solicited
disarmament and the execution of some police me-
asures that could ensure compliance with the rules to
prevent the colonists from leaving their colonies with
impunity or without express permission of their ow-
ners. The councilors suggested that the government
should sustain a respectable force, composed of more
than one hundred soldiers, divided between the villa-
ges of Rio Claro and Limeira, with the task of securing
public peace. In the view of the council, before this at-
titude, the colonists would be subject to their duties
because they would recognize the existence of a re-
ady force, sufficient to suppress their abuses. Deputy
Gavido Peixoto proved to be perplexed regarding the
treatment of this serious situation, according to his
opinion, it was threatening public safety in the pro-
vince. - “Well, gentlemen, the government was con-
tent to send the delegate of public lands that arrived
at Ibicaba only on January 2gth, and despite his good
wishes, good manners and prudence, he could not
succeed. The Chief of Police arrived even later, and |
am informed that he had left the capital with only
eight soldiers, so without force, he could do nothing
and indeed did nothing. He returned to Sdo Paulo and
left the colonists still armed, as unhappily and oddly as
they still are”. To continue his documental exhibition,
the deputy read letters and certificates issued by Dr.
Heusser, commissioned by some cantons of the Swiss
Confederation to examine the sharecropping colonies
of the Province of So Paulo, addressed to the head of
Vergueiro & Co. and Mr. Vollet, director of the Swiss
Confederation, after the accomplishment of the afo-
rementioned investigations. ® During his stay in Bra-
zil, Heusser had praised Vergueiro & Co., however,
when he returned to his homeland, the Swiss envoy,
strangely, presented a report to the authorities of his
country, in which he wrote heavy criticism on Verguei-
ro and Co.. His writings encouraged negative publica-
tions in German and Swiss newspapers. On April 26,
1857, José Vergueiro bothered with some statements
that were contained in a letter from Dr. Heusser, dated
the sixth of that same month and year, sent a com-
munication to the former Consul of Switzerland, Mr.
Charles Perret Gentil, who had accompanied Captain
Diethelm to check all the accounts of the colonists in
Ibicaba and Angelica Farms, asking him to explain in
writing the considerations identified by his compa-
triot. Here is Perret’s reply to his letter: “lllustrious Sir
- Having been p.p., since January 20th until April 16th
of this month, to the colonies of Ibicaba and Angelica,
observing, studying and following the various phases
of the events that took place in these colonies, | am
able toreply to the questions thatYour Lordship asked
in the letter of April 26th, though | have not read the
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letter supposedly written by Dr. Heusser, which is the
cause of those questions. | have already given to Your
Lordship my written opinion on the complaints and
claims that were initiated to the colonists to cause a
disturbance, and that they presented to the lllustrious
Brigadier Machado, however, | shall answer the indi-
cated questions. 1) Your Lordship was not required to
submit to any claims by the colonists of Ibicaba and
Angelica. Rather, the colonists deluded by false hopes
and incited by various parts, did not complain to you,
only after the colonists were disabused, became pe-
aceful and started taking care of their jobs, Your Lor-
dship asked us to inspect the accounts and do the ri-
ght thing. 2) All colonists of Ibicaba and Angelica were
invited to present their account books. The undersig-
ned, with Mr. Diethelm, employee at the Consulate
General of Switzerland, examined and conferred
them, and found them in accordance with the rules
except for some accounting errors, bath favorable
and unfavorable to the colonists. The errors were cor-
rected without having the slightest disturbance or re-
quirements... 3) No colonist asked or demanded that
Your Lordship hire Captain Diethelm to be the gene-
ral director of your colonies. The initiative was yours,
because if there had been a demand, you would not
have joined in, nor would | have advised you to do it,
on principle. When there was a change in the direc-
tion of Ibicaba Colony, the appointment of the new
director did not please the colonists, however, there
he stayed, and the prosperity of families reflected the
profitable effects of a firm and vigilant direction, with
the rules and instructions that Your Lordship gave du-
ring his stay in your establishments, thus replacing a
direction that had sinned for its weakness and care-
lessness. This is what | have to say for now, being your
friend and servant. (a) Charles Perret Gentil - Santos,
April 27, 1857".

Opening a parenthesis in the reports alluding to
discussions undertaken by Brazilian legislators about
the Sharecropping System, more precisely in the spe-
ech of Deputy Gaviao Peixoto, | have considered im-
portant to remember that: 1) in correspondence sent
by H. David on April 29, 1856 to the Federal Council of
his country ), 2)inthe considerations expressed by Dr.
Heusser in his report submitted to the Government of
the Helvetic Confederation ® and 3) in the conclusions
issued by the Council that met in late 1850, to advise
the Federal Assembly of Switzerland about immigra-
tion to Brazil @, the representatives of Switzerland
themselves wrote heavy criticism on the way the Hel-
vetic treated emigration to Brazil (documents belon-
ging to the Swiss Federal Archives of Bem translated
from Gothic German and French).

(1) Letters by Dr.
Heusser sent to Mrg
Vollet, Director of &
Swiss Confederatios
on 03/04/1857,
to Jose Vergueiro
on 04/04/1857
(documents belonging
to the Swiss Federal
Archives) were
published in the book
Ibicaba: Cradle of
European Private

Immigration.




(2) In the aforementioned correspondence, dated April 29, 1856, H. David unburdened: “The Swiss cities, without any pity, send

overseas the elderly, sick, weak people, or families fallen into misery and burdened by children at low agt‘“,

(3) Dr. Heusser also recorded in one of his letters to the Swiss government: “The responsibility for the misfortune generated by colonists
incapable of working falls essentially upon the emigration agencies and cities of origin. I have found in the colonies old soldiers, former
convicts, lazy people, but, as 1 shall prove, they are victims of unpardonable flippancy and barbarity. Among them there are elderly people
from 70 to 85, invalids, cripples, people with wooden legs, blind ones and pertect scoundrels. What makes the conduct of the cities even
graver is that not only did they send these unfortunate people, but also imposed them to healthy young colonists. It was under this express
condition that the latter were able to receive advance payments, being obliged to feed the old and helpless people and even to pay for
their debts after their deaths! For example, the city of Gaechlingen, in the canton of Schaffhausen, only sent a small number of invalids,
butyon the other hand, they joined brave and honest people with former convicts or felons who could only escape imprisonment through
emigration. Nevertheless, all these individuals received from the communal authority a single certificate of good conduct! No doubt such

wpeople could have caused misfortune to others”.

4) Considerations issued by the aforementioned Council to the Swiss Federal Assembly which met in the late 1850, to advise the
Helvetic Confederation regarding the emigration to Brazil by Sharecropping System: “The state of the Swiss colonists in the Province

of Sio Paulo is far from desperate. If some injustices were committed in the beginning, due to error or misunderstanding, they have

- already been remedied. It is not impossible for hardworking colonists to achieve independence and fortune by undertaking the duties
x of the sharecropping contract. If many families are in deplorable conditions, part of this 1'r:sponsil)i|it:\' should be imputed to their own
" members or to their cities of origin. We must not forget that the documents we have just analyzed are not new. They report a former
 state of affairs and since then, the situation has been modified by a fact of great importance. We are talking about the intervention of the

Brazilian government in the whole issue of colonization. This event has two distinct periods. The first recruitments of Swiss colonists in
.~ the country were the result of private initiative and had no governmental control. The abuses they reported and the lamentable facts that
~ occurred belong to this first period. With the purpose of preventing these errors, the Brazilian government immediately stepped in to

supervise the colonization, This intervention was outlined in a series of general measures, which we succinctly list below:

15t) The creation of a permanent commission under the name of “General Administration of Public Lands” invested with powers of high
supervision on emigration, being in charge of registering and distributing land. To carry out this work, a credit of 18 million was allotted
to offer security to the initiative.

2nd) Protection was granted to large companies that received the right to establish colonization enterprises by means of certain
guarantees that would ensure the welfare of immigrants.

3rd)"Supervision of the emigration agents in Europe.

Even after taking these gcneral measures, the Brazilian government did not lose sight of the issue of the moment and of the necessity
_ o immediately help the colonists who had arrived during the first period and were unhappy. In order to solve the difficulties between
e tl_}em and the landowners, the government annulled their contract and transported the immigrants from a colony in Ubatuba to another
province and gave them land. Similarly, when the sharecroppers at Ibicaba made their complaints, a respected magistrate was sent to
the site to conduct an investigation. This mission, as we have seen, immediately terminated some of the abuses but also achieved a much
more important result. In fact, Mr. Valdetaro, the magistrate in charge of the evaluation, did not limit himself to examining the details
of the situation, but endeavored to learn the general causes which contributed to the colonists’ distressing situation and suggested ways
to remedy them. He recognized the need to reinforce the action of the courts by facilitating the arbitration of complaints arising from
the contracts and inspiring the immigrants with more confidence in the judges’ impartiality. The Brazilian government immediately
responded to their commissioner’s suggestions and decided to establish special legislation and jurisdiction to guarantee the rights of
the landowners as well as to protect the colonists. They appointed an authority who was above local influence to visit and inspect
the establishments, with the necessary power to correct eventual irregularitdes. Thus, all issues raised by the different parties shall be
solved summarily. The Imperial Government has also nominated lawyers to defend the colonists free of charge. Always imbued with the
desire to protect the weak, they published a decree appointing consular agents outside the maritime ports and customs cities. Thus, the
foreign consuls will be able to defend the interests of their countrymen even in the interior of the country where their action has been
difficult so far. Finally, a bill destined to regulate the issue of marriage between non-Catholics was presented in the legislative councils.
All these measures are recent, and therefore, only in the future shall we be able to question their efficacy. They testify, in all cases, the
solicitude of the Empire in favor of colonization. Let us take a quick look at the issue in Switzerland. We should have collaborated with
the excellent intentions of the Brazilian government, but we failed to do so. It was our duty to supervise the engagement of the colonists,
but to the contrary, this was delegated to the arbitrariness of the cities. We should have reined in the g}'ecd of the emigration agents;
however, they were left to do as they pleased. In contrast, we did nothing but complain, and the management committee has proposed
that the Federal Assembly expressly solicit the Federal Council to ban emigration to Brazil. It is a rather risky proposal. It is natural for
the abovementioned consultative organ to have power over emigration. This issue has long been left free to arbitrariness or in the hands
of the canton governments who did not have the means to handle it efficiently. The federal authority only has the prerogative to order
the necessary resources to intervene effectively in favor of the colonists. They must also be granted the necessary power to organize
this issue. A ban on emigration might provoke a constitutional issue that could compromise the success of all previous negotiations. We
cannot ignore the benevolent intentions and worthy deeds of the Empire of Brazil. We believe that the Federal Assembly will understand
the situation and conclude that it is more convenient to reach an amicable agreement with the authorities of that country regarding the

attitudes that must be taken to deal with the complaints of the colonists. By so doing, they will render the latter a great service”.
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| believe that the diversity of information and po-
sitions on the subject has led us to question the rea-
sons why the Swiss government changed its opinion
about immigration by the Sharecropping System,
imposing impediments to emigration to Brazil. Would
it be costly for the Swiss Confederation to simply con-
fess the errors admitted by the Council to the Imperial
government of Brazil? If this occurred, the removal of
the unhappy colonists to other lands, as well as the
payment of their debts, would be left to the coffers
of Switzerland. On the other hand, there could have
been a delay when the Swiss diplomats operating in
Brazil had to diagnose the injustices committed by
Brazilian farmers to their countrymen. | believe that
each of the countries involved in the process, pur-
suing their own interests, organized strategies to eva-
de their responsibilities. Anyway, this judgment is up
to the readers and doubt obligates us to continue our
research on the theme.

Returning to the debates occurring in the Council
of Rio de Janeiro on the 17th and 26th of August 1857,
we are now publishing more details of the speech de-
livered by Deputy Gavido Peixoto, in order to prove
the undue intervention of the Swiss consul H. David
in the rebellion of the sharecroppers in Ibicaba. The
legislator read the letters written by Dr. Heusser and
Mr. Diethelm to Dr. Gattiker, doctor who provided
services to the colonies of the Vergueiros and other
establishments located in Piracicaba, Limeira and Rio
Claro. Here is a summary of these correspondences,
despising vain repetitions and non relevant subjects:
"My dear Gattiker! Regarding Diethelm it is only a
question of whether Vergueiro wants or not to assure
his promises in writing. If not, Diethelm will be sent by
the ministry to S3o Paulo to arrange the other colo-
nies. Meanwhile, it is only necessary for the colonists
to remain silent and to this end, | am sending you a
new proclamation by David. * | cannot explain to you
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how heavy my responsibility will be, in case the diabo-
lical deal is broken. Mainly, | fear for the people with
Dr. Elias, ® because they will be forced to resort to
violent means, in case they are denied food. | beg you
therefore, on behalf of the friendship that brought us
together again, which on my partis certainly pure and
holy, to do whatever you can to avoid a disaster. You
have influence with Dr. Elias and in case of necessity,
you could help with money. As soon as you hear that

Postcard: The new and
the old main houses
of the Ibicaba Farm.
(Beginning of the XX

Centurv).

(1) Heinrich David
- Consul General of
Switzerland in Rio de

Janeiro.

General View of
Ibicaba Farm.
Drawing by unknowr
author. Image Bank
of Carlota Schmidt
Memorial Center
Jose Vergueiro Album
Dr. Lotte Kohler
Collection.




(2) Jose Elias Pacheco
Jorddo was the owner
of Bery and Coivitinga
Colonies, located in

Sio Jedo do Rio Claro.

Schlittler was
f the leaders of
bellion of the
sarecroppers, who
T¢ lecd to
Saeelica Farm owned

rgueiro & Co.

Dr. Elias has decided no longer to provide food, | beg
you to help these people for me, and also Schlittler,
in case Vergueiro does not care for him until my next
letter. Certainly, | have almost exhausted my credit,
but in case this happens, David will support me, ex-
cept that he does not want to lend his name, so that
these cash allowances shall not start without necessi-
ty. Anyway, it is better not to give money to people,
but to buy food through Schlittler. The Wandlander
will not be forgotten, but so far, it has not been pos-
sible to arrange it. Everything, including your clothes
will follow soon. | am missing Diethelm and the lieute-
nant. (a)J. Ch. Heusser (Rio de Janeiro, May 20, 1857)".

*."My dear Gattiker! — Through this letter, | beg
you to deliver the enclosed one to its destination. It
seems that the deal of the colonists will take a singu-
lar march. Vergueiro does not want to talk about my
job as general director anymore. | do not even know
how this will end. You can reassure the colonists that
we will do everything in their favor; beg them, on our
behalf, to stay still, and all will end well. Tell Mettler,
especially, that | will not forget him, that | will write
him soon and take care of his future ... Dr. Heusser is
well, and sends regards. With all friendship, yours (a)
A. Diethelm - Rio de Janeiro, May 23, 1857".

*."Dear Mr. Gattiker. - On behalf of the Consul-Ge-

neral, on behalf of Dr. Heusser and on my behalf, | beg
you to present the included proclamation to the colo-
nists in Ibicaba, and if possible, to the other colonists.
We would be very pleased if you could go to Ibicaba
yourself, and as director, superior to any colonist, par-
ticipate in confidence that the ministry has left us two
frank paths. 1) If the homeland municipalities consent
to grant the advances, the government shall relieve
the colonists of their contracts and appoint them their
own land. 2) If that does not happen, the government
shall appoint a general director for all the colonies of
S3o Paulo, who at its expense, armed with special
powers shall oppose the farmers’ abuses (cunnings).
Neither colonists, nor farmers should know about this
for now. | believe you have received my last letter, and
handed to Luis Vergueiro the 8o $, etc. since | will not
go there so soon, and if | do, | shall not go as an em-
ployee of the Vergueiro House, therefare, | am willing
to put these arrangements in order ... () Diethelm -
Rio de Janeiro, May 25, 1857.".

Deputy Gavido Peixoto thought that the lack of
the Government's zeal on these facts was strange. He
said that the authorities should protect the rights of
Senator Vergueiro, honorable elder, who had a glo-
rious past. - “But, gentlemen, it is not so much about
your interest but rather about the public interest, or-
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der and security, and about the future of the province
of Sao Paulo! It is necessary to end the anomaly that
is happening in that colony, but it is necessary to end
it without harming the colonization strongly needed
by the crops and the whole cauntry, and without
allowing no guarantees to the rights of our far-
mers and agriculturists, who need to make so
many sacrifices to achieve the free labor that
they both lack. If the government does not
think it is well informed and elucidated, you
should send someone you trust to check the
status of the colony. If you cannot delibera-

te and resolve from here, you should send

a strong and impartial president to the pro-

vince and hand to him the decision of the
question; so, above all, you should free the
province from the vice president’s interim
office, the one currently in office, which, like

all interim offices is fatal to the province. Ul-
timately, please do something, and leave the
inaction where others have laid and where they
have unfortunately been preserved until today,
those who have been in power”.

As | have already mentioned, the rebellions in
the colonies, especially in Senator Vergueiro Colony,
echoed in Europe, especially in Switzerland that in
1857 sent Dr. Heusser to undertake investigations
in the sharecropping colonies. The Brazilian gover-
nment also ordered Mr. Mancel de Jesus Valdetaro
(1857) and Chief Justice Sebastido Machado Nunes
(1859/60) to carry out an inspection in the colonial
settlements. ' Later, by an official communication,
dated May 28, 1860, Emperor D. Pedro Il officially en-
dorsed the mission of Jean Jackes Tschudi, Extraordi-
nary Envoy of the Swiss Confederation, in charge of
undertaking a thorough evaluation on the situation
of the Swiss colonists in Brazil. We have found in the
Helvetic archives hundreds of documents related to
this topic, including manuscripts by Tschudi himself.
We have selected for translation some documents
that have contributed to rescue the history of the sha-
recropping system, which at that time was already
dying. J.J. Tschudi reached Santos on July 21, 1860. As
he could not count on the S3o Paulo Railway (Santos-
-Jundiai), which would only be active in the near futu-
re, he went up Serra do Mar, via Cubatao toward Séo
Paulo on the 24th of the same month, on the back of
a mule. In other volumes | have already synthesized
the detailed reports of the aforementioned envoy. In
this volume | am publishing excerpts from the diag-
nosis issued by the aforesaid plenipotentiary minister,
after his visit to the colonies of the Province of Sao
Paulo, which he addressed to the Emperor of Brazil,
more precisely to Senator Jodo Lins Vieira Cansan-
sao de Sinimbu, Minister of Foreign Affairs of Brazil
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(08/10/1860): “I have the satisfaction to inform Your
Excellency that the report by Chief Justice Sebastido
Machado Nunes, commissioned by the Imperial Go-
vernment with the task of examining the situation of
the colonies in the Province of Sao Paulo, who com-
pleted his visits in the month of March this year, was
written in an impartial and conscientious manner. The
commissary’s visits had a positive effect both on the
farmers and on the colonists. Chief Justice Machado
Nunes, with his well-known skills, was able to resolve
various difficult situations that had existed for many
years, in a more satisfactory manner to both parties”.

Tschudi praised the reception provided by all the
farmers of the Province, which facilitated his evalua-
tion of the colonies. *Only one, José Vergueiro, head
of the Vergueiro House & Co., as | have already had
the honor of communicating to Your Excellency, on
the occasion of the interview with the President of
the Province of S. Paulo, informed me that | would
not be received in the role of official representative on
the farms of his House. However, he would allow me
to visit, should he be present in Ibicaba, since he had
plans to go to that property. So, José Vergueiro wrote
to me about this near the end of August. However, by
the date of September 6th, when | left the Province



 perial Government the unfav@rahie 1mpress;on that _
 the refusal by Mr. Vergueiro caused among the other
 farmers in the Province of S. Paulo, and this impres-
sion was even further marred when D. Machado Nu-
 nes was subjected to the same treatment on the oc-
casion when he intended to conduct an examination
of Ibicaba, which was supposed to be a model farm.
? P I was ob{tgated to ask the Swiss colonists under con-
i 5‘“ B tract with Vergueiro & Co. to come to the city of Sao
: uﬂa e “9 Jodo do Rio Claro, two miles from Senator Vergueiro
'9“ €oiony, so that | eould hear their complaints. If | am
‘ /M‘;‘) ‘?’lﬂ" : . well-informed, there is a law in Brazil which allows
Dyt

 authorities to examine, at any time, the situation of
- l / '/‘, o[m’ru gléf" gff Mﬂ’w@/

slaves onafan‘n, aoconsequentfy shoajid it not be as-
" i / > A ,;,,,,4.,./”29’

sumed, and rightly so, that the 1mpenat Government
has the right to inspect the situation of free men,
‘ bound only by a service contract? This suppcsmon s

 parture from the Province of S. Paulo, the Minister of
‘the Empire mformed me that he had communicated
tothe Ve:guesro House that the Imperial Government
considered colonization a vital issue for the country
and that they had the right to intervene in everything
relating to the private colonies. The refusal of Mr. J.
Vergueiro is, therefore, inexplicable. | have every rea-

f m« ﬁ ; | __
’,,Z,QM ?ﬂﬁm son to believe, that i_n general, the farmers have been
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proportionally well founded, because, before my de-

plsaseé by my Visdts, since many have come in persan .




A

#
‘i‘

"Reasons why the colomzat:on
by the Sharecropping System
‘has not been successful in the
Province of S. Paulo J.J. Tschudi
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Thrs Province agncultural paf e,xce!!ence,
due to its fertile soil and its magnificent cli- e e n., « o bifee bobonis , wuik
mate, is certain to play a great role in colonization, a{‘.f, on bt wiane, .!L@Jm. - W&-&/
for its imperious needs for workers, to whom it can (bgres yrtlaens fod

~ easily guarantee a happy fate. Unfortunately, for a I vt

long time, the Sharecropping System established
by the Vergueiro House & Co. has demgrated the
future and development of the colonization in this
Province. The posture of this company has hindered
emigration to other regions of Brazil, in view of the
numerous complaints by colonists, in part justified,
which had painful repercussions in Europe, discou-
raging many emigrants to choose this country. |
have the honor of listing to Your Excellency various
causes which, in my view, are the main faults of the
aforementaoned system:
| - The advances received by most of the colo-
nists for the crossing from Europe to Santos and
the burdensome journey from this port to the co-
lonies: The colonists arrive at their destination bur-
dened with debt. For many families, these amounts
are as high as two contos de Réis, which discoura-
ges them right from the beginning of their new hfe
I - The contracts with double agre-
ement, in which the duties and obliga-
tions for both parties are not clear and
positively defined. For example, Art.3rd
in the “Sharecropping Contract” states:
“The Colonists mentioned in Art.1st, upon arrival at
the Port of Santos, shall present themselves to the
owners of Vergueiro & Co., who shall receive and
feed them, and conduct them to their destinations”.
In this article, Vergueiro House & Co. does not com-
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First page of a
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printed by Vergueiro &

Co. Collection: Swiss
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mit to feeding and transporting the immigrants free
of charge, from the port of arrival to the colony, but
it is also not specified that the expenses will be the
responsibility of the colonists. In the manner this
article was written, the Swiss colonists were certain
that the travel expenses from Santos to their des-
tinations would be assumed by Vergueiro House &
Co. Upon their arrival at the colonies, they were very
surprised to learn that these expenses were debited
to their accounts. This same article states that Ver-
gueiro House & Co. has the obligation to provide the
necessary subsistence to the colonists, until they

are able to provide for themselves. According to this
paragraph, the colonists understood that the far-
mers would be required to feed them for an indeter-
minate period of time. However, instead of planting
crops for their own necessities, or enough to sustain
them, they requested food from the landowners,
increasing their debts significantly. Paragraph 7 of
Art.sth determines that those contracted shall be
subject to the regulations of the Colony. However, in
Europe, no effort was made to inform the emigrants
about the nature of these regulations. This was
done only after their arrival at the designated farm.
In many establishments, these regulations stipulate
fines, which is a constant source of complaint by the
colonists. One cannot deny the existing blatant in-
justice, when colonists are made to sign a contract
which mentions unknown disciplinary regulations.
Furthermore, there are contracts in which Verguei-
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ro House & Co. assume not to separate colonists
who come from the same municipality. Despite this
commitment, families from the same locality were
separated from one another. Paragraph 3 of Art.4th
states: "The Gentlemen of Vergueiro & Co. shall be
required to grant the right to plant on their lands.”
There are colonies where not enough land was de-
signated to the colonists to plant their own crops,
and others where the land is a league away from the
colony, which is a major inconvenience and is very
bothersome to the sharecroppers.

lll - The commission levied by Vergueiro &
Company. Upon arrival in Santos, the Verguei-
ro House imposes upon each family member the
amount of ten thousand reis per adult, and five
thousand reis per minor between ages 8 and 1o,
under the title of Commission. This fee is not only
collected from the farmers for whom they import
the colonists, it is also collected from the colonists
on their own farms. Even those who died during the
crossing were subject to this iniquitous tax. A clau-
se based upon solidarity holds the surviving family
members responsible for the payment of their debt.
@ For that reason, some families incurred debts of
R 110%000 and were burdened with an unexpected
debt. The very Government of S. Paulo authorized
Vergueiro House & Co. to collect this Commission.
Now, is it correct and just or fair administration for an
immerging colony to demand from its colonists a sum
not stipulated in its contracts, and so high and dama-
ging to the future prosperity of the families? Another
fact was produced, as mentioned by Dr. Machado
Nunes, on page 5 of his report. | want to mention the
taxes for hospitals or for the poor, known as Captacao,
debited to the enlisted upon their arrival at the Port
of Santos. This tax does not exist in Brazil, but it was
charged from the colonistsin the agreements with the
Swiss municipalities, according to their contracts. The
two Commissioners of the Imperial Government who
examined the situation of the Colonies in the Province
of Sdo Paulo declared this tax unjust, and the colo-
nists who have contracts of passage should be reim-
bursed. Vergueiro House & Co. did in fact return the
unfairly collected sums to the colonists on the Farms
of Senator Francisco Antonio de Souza Queiroz, Com-
mander Luiz Antonio de Souza Barros, Dr. Jozé Elias
Pacheco Jordao, and Benedicto Campos, but judged
it inconvenient to return them to the establishments
of the families of Queiroz Telles, Jodo Leite de Moraes
Cunha, Herminia Florence, Francisco Mariano Galvao
Bueno, and Floriano Camargo Penteado, although
the same rule applied to them as well.

IV - High interest rates for money compared
to Europe. The colonists have to bear not only a
high interest rate on the advances received for the
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(1) ]. J. Tschudi was certainly intormed of the opinion of

the Swiss Council responsible for advising the Helvetic
Confederation concerning emigration to Brazil by Sharecropping
System. The council blamed the Swiss communities for including

the aforementioned solidarity clause in the contracts,

e
; —' -‘ g - - —_— :
' F] ' . - s ’ v -:
[ ] @ M 3
-3 =2 o - .- = ' '
Ly w8 - = a -




Former main house
of Ibicaba Farm. Jose
Vergueiro Album.
Image Bank of Carlota
Schmidt Memorial
Center - Dr. Lotte
Ké&hler Collection.

voyage, but these rates are also calculated over the
value of the food being supplied by the farmer, over
the commission of Vergueiro House & Co., and even
over the fines which are applied in such a manner
that when the conditions are less favorable, their
annual profit can hardly cover the payment of inte-
rest.

V - The instability of harvests and the price of
coffee. The culture of coffee, more than any other, is
subject to vicissitudes of all nature. First, itis neces-
sary to have trees in good condition, because young
or older coffee plants, those trimmed, or planted on
rocky plots, produce very little. Then, the bad we-
ather of seasons, frost, hail, continuous rainfall or
excessive heat, are a great influence on the harvest.
So, following a good crop comes a mediocre one.
When the harvest is finished, the planter is exposed
to new whims: depending on circumstances, the
price of coffee rises with extraordinary variations.
There are still the costs of transporting the coffee
from farm to port. For example, the colonists of Mr.
Queiroz Telles, who received in 1857, for net produc-
tion of one arroba according to the invoices in San-
tos, R2$845. In 1859, for the same quality of coffee,
with expenses taken out, they received R4$000 per
arroba. From these amounts, it is easily understood
that, if a bad crop corresponds to low price, itis im-
possible for the colonist to pay off his debt.

VI-The Directors. In the beginning, the farmers,
not being able to communicate with the colonists,
due to the language barrier, had to hire Germans
in the quality of directors. Unfortunately, the ma-
jority of these men, with no honesty or conscience,
instead of being faithful interpreters between both
parties and seeking conciliation, only used detesta-
ble hypocrisy to mistreat the colonists, even against
the will of the farmers. It is to these miserable men
that we can attribute one of the main causes of the
disgrace faced by the colonists at the various farms.

VIl - Defective Jurisdiction. According to the
contracts, all disputes between farmers and colonists
should be judged by arbiters, in the presence of the
other party, without another appeal. The litigation
is presented to the Justices of the Peace. Well, these
magistrates, asYour Excellency surely knows, are not
independent enough to judge complaints of this na-
ture in an impartial manner and they do not have, as|
myself have seen frequently, common sense enough
to understand the spirit of the Laws and their appli-
cation. To judge the infractions, they use as basis law
N108 from October 11, 1837, which regulates the rela-
tionships between “Landlords” and “Tenants”. In my
view, the “Sharecropping Contracts”, which are based
upon the principle of association or dividing equally,
cannot be characterized as a commitment between
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"Landlords” and “Tenants". | have had the satisfaction
of meeting various law scholars in the Province of S3o
Paulo who share my point of view. Law N108, adopted
by the Legislative Body, in a period when immigration
was insignificant, cannot, today, requlate the difficul-
ties resulting from the introduction of numerous colo-
nists with contracts which are based on such varying
principles. This law has been modified, as toughasitis
unfair, solely due to the lack of another which applies
to current necessities. If | am convinced that the Impe-
rial Government has been aware of the insufficiency
of this law under the current circumstances and that
it could see the urgent need to propose another law,
I have been equally persuaded to believe that the Le-
gislative Body, due to the heterogeneous elements
of which it is comprised, shall have great difficulty in
understanding the need to present the country with a
law so useful and important for its colonization. Also,
Your Excellency, allow me to suggest, as the Imperial
Cabinet requested from the Legislative Body the fa-
culties to undertake the elaboration of this law, that
you may consider the idea just and advantageous,
as issued many times, to pass the jurisdiction of the-
se matters between Colonists and Farmers from the
hands of the Justices of the Peace to the Judges of the
Law. These magistrates would be authorized to deci-
de the disputes, in the shortest period possible, and
free of charge, unlike the current system, where the
fees of alawsuit being decided by a magistrate of such
a high level are too costly for the meager wages of the
colonists. To reach this goal completely, it would be
crucial and necessary to increase the salary of these
Judges of the Law, to guarantee that they would be in
a completely independent position. During my jour-
ney, | noticed that there has been neglect on the part
of the Judges of Orphans, a fact which neither of the
commissioners of the Imperial Government did men-
tion. The orphans of the foreign colonists did not have
any guardians. Many times, upon the deaths of heads
of families who were in debt, the farmers proclaimed
their intention of keeping these minors in their pro-
perties until they were reimbursed for their expenses.
And, although in Brazil, as in Europe, orphans have
the right to the benefits of inventory, the colonists
could not locate anyone to explain to them their rights
and duties. Therefore, a great number of fathers with
debts would tell me, weeping: “It is only by thinking
of the future of our children that we have overcome
unrest, because if we end up failing them while in debt
with the farmers, they will become obligated to their
service forever”. | have reassured them and explained
that their children would receive in Brazil, as in their
birthplaces, the same rights of inheritance. During my
stay in the Province of Sao Paulo, | demanded of the
Judges of Orphans that the orphans of foreign colo-
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nists be provided guardians. Most of them did this in
my presence. Upon my return to the city of Sdo Paulo,
I seriously called the attention of the Honorable Pre-
sident of the Province to this fact and he promised to
send, with no further delay, a letter to all the Judges of
Orphans in the province to remind them of this duty.

VIl -The discouragement of the colonists. Due
to the reasons outlined above, most of the colonists
bound by the Sharecropping System are discoura-
ged, since it has been widely known that for a long
time now, few are working for fair compensation
for their labors. This has occurred since they recei-
ved word through letters that Vergueiro House &
Co. had not reimbursed the Swiss municipalities for
their advance payments. Besides, the ideal that a
colonist could ever become a landowner has been
destroyed. Not to mention that this was the princi-
pal motive for them to expatriate.

IX - The Colonists. The emigration agents made
commitments to enlist colonists in Europe, choosing
men with known morals and recognized for their
dedication to work. Those who arrived were accep-
ted, even when the occupations they held previou-
sly were not compatible with those they came to
exert in Brazil. Nobody cared for these individuals.
They became involved in a sordid operation whe-
re all demonstrations of humanity were discarded.
They only concentrated on increasing the quantity
of their expeditions, with no concern whatsoever
for the quality. | must declare, to be fair, that the
colonists who make the most intensive complaints
belong, generally, to the category that is least likely
to work hard. Those who work seem to be more sa-
tisfied and try to pay off their debts. However, there
are colonists, who despite their dedication to work,
suffer from constant illnesses, that is, they are ex-
posed to circumstances beyond their control which
add to the increase of their debts, and it might only
be liquidated with the aid of others.

X - The Farmers. Upon arrival of the colonists,
farmers who were used to dealing with slaves igno-
red how to treat the free men they had hired. But
this state of things has improved. | confess that
many complaints against the landowners were exa-
ggerated”. Tschudi rebuked the actions of the direc-
tors who were not always worthy of the confidence
that was given to them.

Tschudi also commented on the almost total
absence of religious aid and schools for most of the
colonists.

The Swiss envoy added: “Such are the reasons,
from my point of view, that have caused the regret-
table results of colonization in the Province of Sio
Paulo. As Your Excellency can see, with no doubt,
they are all provided by the "Sharecropping Sys-
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tem”. In the opinion of J. J. Tschudi, the farmers
adopted a system which increased state and natio-
nal income. The increase in the export of coffee has
fattened public coffers through their excessive ta-
xes. Many farmers and coffee brokers had fabulous
profits, but the finances of the country suffered a se-
rious setback at the core. The Plenipotentiary Minis-
ter affirmed that Brazil was an agricultural country
with no industry, so it was obligated to import cer-
tain foods at elevated prices to supply the popula-
tion, thus suffering a blow to its economy, notwiths-
tanding the apparently brilliant aspects of certain
branches of its agriculture. “If immigration had had
better results, farmers would have been able to de-
dicate themselves unworriedly to the culture of co-
ffee, since colonists who were practically exclusively
in charge of planting food would have been able to
supply the country with sufficient quantity and at
reasonable prices, thus making the Empire indepen-
dent of all food imports. “The Imperial Government
seemed to have understood this situation, because

for many years, it has applied much effort to attract

mass immigration to Brazil. However, despite the

Councils having approved the spending of millions

of francs for this purpose, the results by the end of

1860 were not satisfactory. Ninety percent of the

coffee produced in Brazil was the result of slave la-

bor, which reveals that the future expansion of this

culture was intimately linked to the question of

emancipation. If we had admitted to solve the situ-

ation in favor of the slaves, exports would have de-

creased significantly. In the decade of 1860, Tschudi

affirmed that it was not licit to assume that the sla-

ve, when freed, would continue to cultivate coffee,

hated as it was, not even if they were determined

to acquire their own plots of land. Due to this, the

cultivation of coffee would depend almost exclusi-

vely on the foreign colonists. Tschudi also affirmed

"How many colonists should be hired to obtain a

crop of two million sacks? The free colonist, not yet

adapted to the planting of the Rubiaceae, and who
forcibly has to plant staple food products, will never
be able to cultivate more than 1000 coffee plants. It
would take 160,000 colonists to care for a plantation
to produce a crop of two million sacks. If a family is
made up of, in average, four people, and each fami-
ly could care for 1000 plants, one would then need
40,000 families to accomplish this. Whoever knows
the reality of colonization in Brazil will realize im-
mediately that it is impossible to attract and esta-
blish such a large number of colonists, even without
assuming great sacrifices and high investments. |
am only thinking about the cultivation of coffee,
but how many colonists would the country need to
develop the cultivation of other products, such as
sugar, cotton, tobacco and corn, for whose picking
slave labor has been utilized exclusively, in order to
produce sufficient quantities? The economic life of
the nation depends on this situation. This country,
exclusively agricultural, has paid whatever imported
from abroad with its agricultural products, among
which coffee holds first place. If export were to di-
minish, import also would, and the government'sin-
come would be reduced proportionally, because it is
sustained almost solely by the fees generated from
imports and exports. Such deficit would shake the
foundations of the internal finances and this would
have a disastrous effect abroad. These are the main
reasons why Brazil might maintain slavery, no mat-
ter the cost”. Tcshudi believed that the Brazilian go-
vernment would still resist for some time the pres-
sures of public opinion and of the natural laws and
rights of the people. The envoy from Switzerland
went further and stated that Brazil had reached its
peak by exporting an average of 2,500,000 sacks of
coffee in that century”.
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The decadence of the Sharecropping System

I n the beginning, colonization by the Sharecro-
pping System was praised and adopted as an
excellent alternative to replace slaves for free labor,
but it was also, no one can deny, condemned by the
insensitivity of the farmers, the engagement of sho-
ddy colonists, absence of efficient legislation, anim-
partial justice, and mainly because the government
had no power to adopt a solution that would put an
end to the suffering of all involved. As we had access
to hundreds of documents, we believe that all these
factors contributed to discredit Brazil, for a certain
period, as the dream country of emigrants. By stu-
dying the situation of the sharecropping colonies in
1866, we have observed that the willingness to work
diligently, obtaining a more fertile land, under the
rule of a fair boss, having a family composed of
adults or fit to heavy work and the absence of disea-
se, were circumstances which, combined, produced
a moderate prosperity and independence. Many co-
lonists managed to solve their debts by receiving
inheritances from their homeland. However, the mi-
serable situation of thousands of immigrants and
the ruin of many farmers decreed the decadence of
the Sharecropping System. There is no way to bla-
me these effects on this or that individual, because
when evil hasits origin in the principles, itis anidiocy
to attack the individuality of the people who imple-
mented them. This does not mean that the human
beings involved did not have vested interests or
seek benefits. The manner adopted for the execu-
tion of contracts would have produced dismal re-
sults, under any circumstances and in the hands of
any individuals. The head of a family of sharecro-
ppers could not nourish the hope of establishing a
position of independence. His children were practi-
cally mortgaged to the farmer. The result of this
condition caused discouragement, because the gre-
atest purpose of work was not the welfare of the
family. The indebted sharecropper became a lost
entity to society and the farmer wasted his capital
employed in the constitution of the colony, in travel
and food for the colonists and even worse, got invol-
ved in the entanglements generated by discontent.
Under these conditions, with rare exceptions, work
proved unproductive, mostly for being accompa-
nied by the spirit of insubordination and disaffec-
tion. As we have observed in documents captured in
different countries, the sharecropping colonies of
the Province of Sao Paulo, especially those who re-
ceived colonists transferred by the Vergueiro House
demanded the intervention of the Imperial Govern-
ment. The tense atmosphere suggested the danger
of the occurrence of violent scenes. Faced with the
need to prevent these evils and end up with this is-

sue, the government, Swiss diplomats, the Interna-
tional Society of Immigration and part of the parlia-
ment, all studied means to rid both the colonists
and farmers of the results generated by the Share-
cropping System, but undoubtedly, there was a lack
of firmness to make urgent decisions to solve this
problem. Many families were able to “Make it in
America”, but thousands of colonists were in a state
of utter misery and without hope of recovering their
independence. Not to mention the large number of
immigrant colonists who were incarcerated becau-
se they had fled the colonies for several reasons.
Thus we have come to the sad facts that always ac-
company wrong principles! The sharecropping con-
tracts concluded in Europe were celebrated, in ge-
neral, among people who were ignorant both of the
circumstances and of the localities in the country,
and they were undoubtedly harmful. Agents guided
by inadequate instructions and moved only by ex-
cessive interest, did not aim at the quality of the pe-
ople they engaged or their fitness for the work they
were destined. In their ignorance, colonists accep-
ted seemingly favorable conditions, that were, in
fact, destructive of their future. The levity of both
contracting parties in the making of these contracts
went so far that they were given destinations even
to places and colonies that did not exist, except in
the fantasy of the agents. The stipulation of interest
and, in most cases, at very high rate, was a very
strong impediment that encumbered the sharecro-
ppers with unpayable debts, especially the Swiss
ones. As already mentioned, one of the saddest and
most unfair conditions was the solidarity of all fami-
ly members with the debt of the head of the family.
This condition, in fact contrary to the laws of inheri-
tance, has resulted in modern slavery. The children
of colonists lost their independence and were, befo-
rehand, mortgaged to pay the debts incurred wi-
thout their intervention. It is true that the law per-
mitted all citizens to refuse the acceptance of
inheritances, but the law was powerless in view of
the arbitrariness and omnipotence that were pre-
sentin the provinces. As already mentioned, the do-
cuments found in the Swiss Federal Archives revea-
led that this damn clause was included by the Swiss
communities that, in due course, transferred the
responsibility to Vergueiro & Co. Another absurd
was that no guarantee was given to the children
who unluckily lost their parents. Sad truth is that the
colonists did not have the least security in the laws
of the country, they lacked any protection against
the abuses that resulted from their position of de-
pendence on a strong farmer, in respect to his in-
fluence, family and friendship. Contracts establi-
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shed that in case of emergency and conflict,
arbitration before the competent authorities and
the decision of these arbitrators would be without
recourse. It is clear on which side hung the scales of
justice. Obviously, on the side of the influential far-
mer, closely linked to the authorities, either by frien-
dship, by kinship, by important position or the fee-
ling of nationality. These contracts contained other
absurd conditions, one example was the faculty that
the farmers had to transfer services of the sharecro-
ppers to others. The claim to speculate with this la-
bor is nothing less than to establish slavery under a
new form. And the transfers permitted by the con-
tracts were nothing less than a sale of services, or,
indeed, of employees. The transfer or sale was also
made in anticipation of a profit, becoming a new
and odious trafficking. According to these contracts,
colonists were subject to the internal requlations of
the farms, not knowing if they had established rules
based on intolerable force or paternal tenderness.
These requlations were given by the farmers after
the arrival of the sharecroppers, and could be chan-
ged without their consent. At that time, the law of
the contracts in force was harsh on the poor colo-
nists, while the professional swindlers who caused
misery for thousands of families continued their
brilliant career. We have learned that many share-
croppers, who had escaped from farms to alleviate
poverty also for their children, or even for laziness,
ended up locked in prisons. We have also known, as
did the Imperial Government, of abuses and scan-
dals that were practiced by the farmers’ representa-
tives, who being aware of the lack of judicial inter-
vention, did not hesitate to employ the vilest means
to the detriment of the colonists. We had access to
documents issued by the Vice-Consulate of Switzer-
land in Campinas, in the 1860s, which also narrated
aggressions suffered by the colonists. There are re-
ports about some German colonists of Ibicaba Farm
who were punished in the stocks for the discipline of
African slaves. We know that the debts of the Swiss
who arrived in 1853, after many years of effort and
hard work, were considerably increased in1866. The
colonists were victims of entries of debits and com-
missions while their importers had already received
from the provincial coffers. The Vergueiro House, for
example, carried high interest in the colonists’ ac-
counts, but this same company had received inte-
rest-free loan for the aim of colonization. These ad-
vances were made to benefit the colonists! The
contracts did not mention that immigrants would
be charged the cost of travel between the Port of
Santos to the farms, but the Vergueiros not only
charged ten thousand reis per person, but also the
salary of the driver, whose sum was significant for a
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poor man who hadjust‘arrived in distant land, com-
pletely de-capitalized. In 1866, the Sharecropping
System was dying and demanded the government'’s
drastic action to dissolve the contracts, to put an
end to the suffering of the colonists and prevent far-
mers from having more losses. It is also interesting
for the reader to be aware of the other side of the
story. Many sharecroppers were indolent, quarrel-
some and unfit for work, but ate and drank at the
expense of the farmers. As mentioned earlier, after
the attitude of the Brazilian government to meet
the demands of Mr. Heinrich David, Consul General
of Switzerland in relation to the issues raised by the
colonists of Ubatuba, granting them debt forgive-
ness and allocating land to the plaintiffs, the other
sharecropping colonies of the Province of Sao Pau-
lo, incited or not by a well architected plan, were
also victimized by rebellions. | have mentioned
here, for example, the colonies of Ibicaba, Sao Jero-
nimo, Santo Antonio and Bery, located in Limeira,
Piracicaba and Sao Jodo do Rio Claro, owned by Mr.
Jose Vergueiro, Senator Francisco Antonio de Souza
Queiroz, Elias da Silveira Leite and José Elias Pache-
co Jordao. The sharecroppers of Santo Antonio and
Bery were transferred to a new colony located in Ca-
naneia, specially constituted to receive them. Based
on the reports submitted by Mr. Jorge Krug, vice
consul in Campinas of the Consulate General of
Switzerland, dated between the late 1850s and mid
1860s, we could realize that while fulfilling his mis-
sion and suing Vergueiro & Co. to fight for the rights
of the colonists in the farms of Ibicaba, Angelica,
Santo Antonio and others, the diplomat also wrote
severe criticism on the colonists and the Swiss Go-
vernment.” In official letters dated 1866, Krug also
mentioned that the bankruptcy of Vergueiro & Co.
had discredited the company before the people and
authorities. Given this situation, the vice-consul in
Campinas believed that the weakening of the com-
pany collaborated for the immigrant colonists to
take advantage of the numerous lawsuits filed
against Jose Vergueiro. To strengthen his efforts on
behalf of his fellows the diplomat also requested the
help of the International Society of Immigration.®”)
The activities of Vergueiro & Co. intensified after
the rebuilding of the Vergueiro Road (Caminho do
Mar), linking Sao Paulo to Santos. The work was ad-
ministered by Jose Vergueiro and funded by Forjaz
& S3, Vergueiro & Co., Souza Queiroz & Vergueiro
and Antonio Ferreira da Silva, companies linked to
the export of coffee. Documents attached to the la-
wsuits filed against Vergueiro & Co. that transacted
in the counties of Rio de Janeiro, Santos, Limeira
and Rio Claro, proved that the pioneer company in
private immigration went bankrupt in May 186s. It
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November 19, 1887 due

Limeirense. Collection of

the .'\r'lunivip.ﬂ Center of

'f- Historical Memic ry of Limeira
Documents of the Court

of Justice of the State of Sao

Paulo (Limeira County) .

hvl]] to discredit the new colony.

Promissory Note signed on

to the 1st of March 1888.
The document refers to the
debt incurred by Vergueiro

& Co. with Caixa Ir’upul.u'

this favoritism or not. The vice-consul recorded in one of his letters:

had failed to pay off debts related to the numerous
loans. The list of fifty-three creditors in the bankrup-
tcy term included Banco do Brasil, the firm B. Ga-
vido Ribeiro & Gavido, whose invoices were in the
London and Brazilian Bank Limited. That same year,
they met with José Vergueiro and Luiz Roelfs, the
only ones qualified, at that time, as solidarity part-
ners of Vergueiro & Co. to address the terms of the
concordat. To inform the reader, Roelfs was mar-
ried to Francisca, sister of Jose Vergueiro. At a me-
eting held in 1865, representatives of the Imperial
Government and the creditors of Vergueiro & Co.
agreed that the bankruptcy of the most important
company within the context of colonization would
be disastrous for the market. Exactly that same day
when bankruptcy was declared, creditors accepted
the establishment of an agreement with Jose Ver-
gueiro. With the consent of the heirs of Senator Ver-
gueiro, José proposed to mortgage lbicaba with all
its slaves, machinery, etc., as guarantee of payment
to B. Gavido Ribeiro & Gaviao. Angelica Farm was
pawned in the value of the remaining debts. Thus,
the concordat of the company was decreed, giving
it a new breath to continue its activities. In 1874,
Jose negotiated Itaporanga to alleviate the debts
that had grown alarmingly, according to his letters
to relatives. Perhaps due to his great influence, José
Vergueiro was able to manage bankruptcy until the
late 1880s.

= (1) The reports by Jorge Krug published in the book Historical Farms in the Province of Sao Paulo recorded that the diplomat was in
charge of the arrangements to rescue immigrants from the colonies of Santo Anténio (Piracicaba) and Bery (Rio Claro) aiming to direct
them to a new aolum in Cananeia. In an official letter sent to the Consul General of Switzerland on June 10, 1862, Krug unburdened:
“direct intervention of higher authorities to rescue colonists is harmful, and I think the Swiss Council is too distant to know who deserves

“If these individuals go to Cananeia, which I still doubt, they will

Lawsuits involving colonists of Ibicaba and Angelica

We have selected some excerpts from official letters sent in 1866 by Mr. Jorge G. H. Krug to the Consulate General of Sw itzerland
in Rio de Janeiro, published in the book Historical Farms in the Province of Sio Paulo: On March 21, 1866, Krug recorded: “l am sorry
to give you bad news about Ibicaba Colony, which I consider under complete dissolution, so it has caused mmh trouble and expense.
Even worse, I do not know where all this shall end vet. The tyranny and oppression to which the Germans and Swiss have been exposed
in that colony is atrocious and this situation has worsened, mainly because they lack the means to seek relief through justice. It would be
—— very useful to promote, everywhere Germans and Swiss reside, a \Lm\ulplmn in order to gather a sufficient sum allocated to hiring a

skilled law yer m defend them and also to support the underprivileged, sick and unpplui soon to be evicted from the colony, and it has
already begun”. In the official letter of No. 59 of May 18, 1866, Krug recorded: * [ have defended at the forum of Sao ]nauciu Rio Claro,
Ihmunll skillful lawvyers and prosecutors instructed |»\ me, the Swiss (nlfml\h of Angelica Farm, as well as some other patricians unjustly

imprisoned in the jail of Limeira. Dr. Kr ug reported: “From Angelica Colony, located in Sio Jodo du Rio Claro, within a month, all Swiss
families shall leave in pursuance of a sentence that Mr. Justice of the Peace gave against Vergueiro”

“the colonists have been freed of

any contractual obligations, being relieved of paying their debts with the Swiss munic ||ml|t|o~. to Lr)mm.mdu Jose Vergueiro until they
authorize this payment. Obviously, for this to occur, the owner of Angelica should show them the receipts for payment of those sums. The
sharecroppers had only to ac know ledge the debt owed to the \uuuum House, which is insignificant. Moreover, they were exempted

without puu[malu)n “Krug said that Jose \uoucltu \\]\hln” to get rid of ne -arly all of his Swiss colonists and some German families,

l from paying interest on these debts for two vears, and they could stav for a month in the mlun\ until they could arrange their moves

torced them to sign \l)LILI'I(H undertaking to pay off their debts with his company and the Swiss municipalities, although he had not

transferred a penny to these communes

rewardec

“These people have managed to survive and found ways to support their families”

(2) Concerning the International Society of Immigration, in 1866, the Swiss vice-consul of Campinas asked Mr. Favre to convince its
members not to undertake agreement w ith the Ver gueiro House, w hn was assisted by the Ministry of Agriculture. Jorge Krug considered
unfair to invest large sums to appease the wrath of the obstinate Jose Ve rgueiro, who had committed misdeeds and would still be
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The Ruin of Vergueiro & Co.

|n the late 1880s, Jose Vergueiro had very few
immigrants he trusted and all the work in the
coffee culture of Ibicaba was run by his three hun-
dred slaves. During this period, his creditors execu-
ted documents proving the insoluble debts of Ver-
gueiro & Co.. In the late 1880s, after all subterfuges
to evade the payment of its debts, Vergueiro House
collapsed.

AQ {\ H\l\\ ir“\‘fﬂ(iu

o/ AU D Ror gy
B

s

vnd oo 0 VIR I'*“C““mt\m“lb

L (‘\ug_\_ [l‘n&j’ dl. ;

l‘ VTV . 7.

LA.IL'C

s JYa ool U rag S (e uww

s b\uw\&@l l

006

N

TLLM {{v\ < o &u;f“ﬁ eru.}

Ve mu; sk e o U eamAtaA - W

mec\ﬁ @.L&QL&‘\\C\\\(\ 0 xuh\t{\'v\
X{u Q \Muu. (\ LAA oL LUAO Lu\

C \L\\_(}\i mm\u \.u&t:u.o C\wm M

ol 'u,‘(l’ﬂwi &6\0 o o

t

oo uvadet Upas Nae
L\rM Ay s.w\(m L deah EML\/B

| fiad {& ~
lwh Ld\ﬂ % Low ot LL\\.\\\ "““',}_‘L

wb aee u\ ol %M d\u &u%\tn\

| M o ctﬁu‘\" hm g4 A Y (\k '\UUQ [
LG

‘E\ \

= e — &

The lawsuits that transacted in the counties of
Limeira, Santos, Rio Claro and Rio de Janeiro, recor-
ded that even his relatives, among whom were his
cousins, administrators of Souza Queiroz & Verguei-
ro, and his own sister, Angelica Joaquina Vergueiro
de Faro, widow of Joaquim Pereira de Faro, Baron of
Rio Bonito, charged their credits, promoting actions
against Vergueiro & Co.. Undoubtedly, from May 13,
1888, with the manumission of his slaves, the situa-
tion became unbearable. Souza Queiroz even sued
him for misappropriation of the coffee pledged in
one of the loans, prompting the substitute judge
of the County of Limeira to issue an arrest warrant,
recommending the collection of José Vergueiro to
prison for violating Article 264 of the Penal Code of
the Empire. This occurred in October 1888. He ma-
naged to get away unscathed, leaving Ibicaba to
live in Rio Claro. At the beginning of the year 1889,
perhaps to gain time and make the job of the bailiffs
difficult about receiving numerous calls to respond
to lawsuits, he spent some time in Jundiai. During
the period in which the processes of sequestration
of his properties, including Ibicaba, Saltinho and Co-
lonia, transacted in justice, he was again living in Rio
Claro. His creditors had no more patience to listen
to his evasions. Jose also revealed his dismay. He
withdrew from filing the usual embargoes and let
the processes run in absentia. The famous Ibicaba,
“Cradle of European Immigration by Sharecropping
System” was bought at auction (check exact date)
by the Levy family (Jose and Simao), who had arri-
ved in Senator Vergueiro Colony in 1857, contracted
under the sharecropping system. Curiously, the po-
werful farmer went “bankrupt” and his former colo-
nists became wealthy.

Jose Vergueiro passed away on December 31,
1893, at the age of eighty-one, in a hamlet called
Saudade, located in the Village of Xiririca, in the
State of Sao Paulo. Due to the problems that had
occurred in the sharecropping colonies and their
repercussions in Europe, the import of immigrants
from Germany and Switzerland was interrupted for
alongtime.

Registration Statement for Special Mortgage, dated July 15,

1871, inserted in the Documents of Execution involving

the London and Brazilian Bank and Vergueiro & Company
(executed). Case dated 1878. Collection of the Municipal Center
of Historical Memory of Limeira - Documents of the Court of
Justice of the State of Sio Paulo (Limeira County).
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History repeated with Italians

Brazi! constituted immigrant colonies in pla-
ces far from the major consuming centers.
Perhaps ifimmigrants had been placed around com-
mercial centers and used in small farming, devoting
to the production of daily food, they would have
found it easier to settle their debts. The Internatio-
nal Society of Immigration insisted that the govern-
ment should expropriate the idle land surrounding
Rio de Janeiro to serve colonization. Possibly this
was one of the reasons that contributed for the afo-
rementioned entity not to receive the funds claimed
by its directory. Indeed, this society had an ephe-
meral existence. The vast unproductive properties
surrounding the capital of the Empire belonged to
millionaires protected by the Imperial Government,
athrong who lived of flattering the royal family. Des-
pite all the problems that occurred with the clashes
between colonists and farmers, the immigration
promoted by Senator Vergueiro collaborated forthe
farmers in the Province of Sdo Paulo to believe in
replacing slave labor for the free one. This initiative
culminated in the “Abolition of Slavery” and the im-
port of large numbers of Italians to be employed in
the coffee plantations, especially in the late XIX cen-
tury. Despite the lessons that the Brazilian society
experienced with the employment of the Sharecro-
pping System, the Italians who were employed for
wages or working hours, also had serious problems
in living with an elite that only thought about pro-
fits, and with rare exceptions, was insensitive to the
suffering of poverty. Unfortunately, this is a human
characteristic. In the late 1880s, some deputies and
the provincial government, who remained in power,
thanks to the strength of the Coffee Barons, made
speeches and undertook managements to saturate
the farms with workers in order to increase compe-
tition. The law of supply and demand kept wages
flat. Despite official claims, coercion and violence
were evident in rural life, especially in times of stri-
ke, aiming to keep control anyhow. The immigrants
were subject to the farmers of Sao Paulo, who exer-
cised absolute power. Again, | insist on saying that
the history of the Portuguese, Swiss and German
immigrants was repeated. Farmers did whatever
they wanted, applied arbitrary fines, seeking to re-
duce the salaries of the colonists. The weights and
measures in force in farm sales continued to be a
cause for complaint. Many colonies had groups of
henchmen who kept immigrants under surveillance.
Consular reports and newspapers of the period re-
corded hundreds of violent events, which were not
judged fairly by the justice. There is hardly a single
case of farmer who has received any punishment for
having beaten one of his'aggregates. This arbitrari-

ness generated much violence. When serious events
occurred, such as farmers raping children and ltalian
girls or similar facts, immigrants who were unhappy
with the unequal treatment had to bite their lips, or
took justice into their own hands. The system was
certainly designed to keep workers dependent on
their bosses. Some organs of the press and docu-
ments reveal that colonists could only accumulate
some money under very special circumstances or
when participating in families with many members
who were able to work. | believe that abuse was
practiced by farmers, immigrants, Brazilian and Eu-
ropean governments, always with the intention of
taking advantage. Regardless of this unfortunate
reality, many immigrants have managed to “Make
it in America” and have adopted Brazil as their new
homeland, becoming successful entrepreneurs.

As for my curiosity about what happened to the
families who settled the sharecropping colonies in
the Province of S3o Paulo, after the disturbances,
which occurred from 1856, | confess that | have felt
encouraged to continue the documental researches
aiming to meet the expectations of those interested
in the history of European Immigration by Share-
cropping System. Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center
has kept in its collection thousands of documents
relating to the issue and we shall spare no efforts
to find solutions to meet the expenses necessary
for the translation of these rarities written in Gothic
German.

The author in front of the Swiss Federal Archive - Bern -

Switzerland.
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The fate of Ibicaba Farm

|n 1976, the Levy family after dismembering
|bicaba, at the time with over 1000 bushels,
sold a proportion of 300 bushels, which included the
farmhouse, granaries, machine rooms, yards, gaze-
bo, ponds, some houses of colonists and a beautiful
stretch of forest, to the Carvalhaes family from Mi-
nas Gerais. The current owner of the famous Farm,
Mr. Theodoro Hayden Carvalhaes, son of Leonidas
Rossmann Carvalhaes and Judith Hayden Carvalha-
es, born in Santos (1927), married Mrs. Maria Helena
Veiga de Oliveira Carvalhaes (deceased). The couple

had five children: Judith, Murilo, Breno, Roberto
and Theodoro. Since 1957, Theodoro, the youngest
of the Carvalhaes, has operated pre-scheduled cul-
tural tourism in Ibicaba, Mother Cell of Immigration
by Sharecropping System. The farm constituted by
Senator Nicolau Pereira de Campos Vergueiro has
been a nook that features a travel to the XIX cen-
tury. The reconstruction of the memory of Portu-
guese, German, Swiss and Italian immigration has
been present in the celebrated Ibicaba.
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Fontes - Manuscritos (Originais do Século XIX)
Sources - Original Manuscripts of XIX Century

Textos e imagens alusivos & Colonia SuperagUi - Musée Historique de Vevey - Suiga.

Imagens e documentos - Banco de documentos Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center - Acervo
Dra. Lotte Kéhler - Munigue - Alemanha.

Cépia da carta de doagio da sesmaria do Morro Azul, juizo de medicao da Vila de tu, 1817.
Inventario Brigadeiro Luiz Antonio de Souza - Cartério do 1° Oficio de Sdo Paulo.

Autos de Ao Executiva Souza Queiroz X Vergueiro & Cia. (1888) Cartario 1° Oficio Limeira-SP.
Autos Civeis de Execucdo Souza Queiroz X Vergueiro & Cia. (1889) Cartorio 10 Oficio - Limeira-SP.
Cartas de José Vergueiro aos credores (Acervo Cartorio 1° Oficio - Limeira - SP. Brasil ).

Cartas Precatorias envolvendo a Verqueiro & Cia e seus credores (Cartdrio 1° Oficio - Limeira-SP).
Atestado de Obito de José Vergueiro.

Rascunho de Embarqgo elaborado pelo Dr. Ezequiel de Paula Ramos, referente a hipoteca
envolvendo aVergueiro & Cia. e o credor (London and Brazilian Bank Limited) 15/06/1875.
Recibos documentando envio de café através da Cia. Paulista de Estradas de Ferro.

Livro de Registro Geral de Escravos Doc 6612 Arquivo do Estado de Sao Paulo.

Doc. CO1092 - Oficios de Limeira 1842 a 1859 Arquivo do Estado de Sao Paulo.

Doc. Alusivo ao destrato da sociedade entre 0 Senador Vergueiro e a familia do Brigadeiro Luiz
Antonio de Souza ( 1° Tabelionato de Sao Paulo, livro de notas n°27 - pagina n° 54).

Parecer de Vergueiro sobre a Colonizado Oficial - Coldnia de Santo Amaro SP - Ata da Sessao
n°84, do Conselho do Governo da Provincia de S&o Paulo, realizada em 18 de outubro de 1828,
Inimeros documentos pertencentes ao Arquivo de Gotha - Turingia - Alemanha.

Dacumentos relativos ao Movimento do Porto de Santos, enviados peloVice-Consulado de
Bremen em Santos ( 1844 - 1866 ).- Staatsarchiv Bremen - 2-C.a.

Listas de Passageiros que emigraram pelo Porto de Hamburgo (Staatsarchiv Hamburg).
Indmeres documentos pertencentes ao Arquivo Distrital de Viana do Castelo, Porto e Braga

( Dra. Alexandra Esteves - Arquivo Distrital de Viana do Castelo - Portugal ).

Carta de José Tavares Bastos ao Presidente da Camara de Limeira indagando sobre a Revolta
dos Colonos na Ibicaba, (Doc 30 E/P2 de Margo de 1857) - Centro de Memoéria Historica de
Limeira.

Memorial de José Vergueiro apresentade ao Ministro da Agricultura em 1874,

Carta de Nicolau Pereira de Campos Vergueiro ao Presidente da Provincia de S3o Paulo (6 de
janeiro de 1853 - Arquivo do Estado de Sao Paulo).

Censo de Vila Nova Constituigao (Piracicaba) de 1822,

Oficiode Nicolau Pereira de Campos Vergueiro a José Tomas Nabuco de Aratjo (Presidente
da Provincia de Sao Paulo) informando sobre a Coldnia Senador Vergueiro (06/01/1852).
Anexos: Quadros de pessoal da Colonia e das contas dos parceiros (1851) - Acervo Arquive
Historico - Museu Imperial - IPHAN - Ministério da Cultura - Petropolis RJ. - (Mago 117 - Doc.
5786 ).

25)

26)

2j)
28)

30)
3

32)

34)

Oficio de José Tavares Bastos, chefe interino de Policia de S3o Paulo, ao Anttnio Roberto de
Almeida, Vice-Presidente da provincia de So Paulo - Comentando a agitagdo da Coldnia
Senador Vergueiro. Secretaria de Policia de Sao Paulo, 16/04/1857. Acerve Arquivo Historico -
Museu Imperial - IPHAN - Ministério da Cultura - Petropolis Rj. ( Mago 124 - Doc. 61g9).

Auto de Posse da Sesmaria do Morro Azul (1817).

Auto de Posse de area da Fazenda Ibicaba.

Cartas de Thomas Davatz enviadas entre o més de dezembro de 1855 e dezembro de 1856 a0
Consul Geral da Suica no Rio de Janeiro e ao Sr. Gustav Lutz. Acervo Arquivo Federal de Berna.
Cartas escritas originalmente em francés, enviadas durante os anos de 1858 e 1859 pelos
parceiros da Coldnia Santo Antonio, situada em Constituicao (Piracicaba) - Acervo Arquivo
Federal de Berna - Suica.

Relatérios enviados na década de 1860, pelo Sr. Jorge Krug, Vice-Consul da Suica em Campinas
ao Consulado Geral da Suiga na Rio de Janeiro - Acervo Arquivo Federal de Berna - Suiga.
Rascunhos de relatorios da Sociedade Internacional da Imigragéo Geheimes Staatsarchiv
Preussischer kulturbesits de Berlin.

Oficios enviados pelo Sr. Jorge Krug, Vice-Consul da Suica em Campinas ao Sr. Felix Favre,
Vice-Consul interino do Consulado Geral da Suiga na Capital do Império do Brasil (1866).
Livro de Contas numero 1 da Col6nia Senador Vergueiro - Fazenda Ibicaba - 1846 /1847 -
Acervo Paulo Levy.

Diério de Carlota Schmidt (Brune) neta adotiva do Comendador José Vergueiro 1881. Acervo
Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center - doagao Dra. Lotte Kohler - Munique - Alemanha.

Jornal do Comércio do Rio de Janeiro (04/01/18g3) - Copia: acervo: S F A - Berna.
Documentos do Acervo lconografice do Memorial do Imigrante.

Documentos diversos alusivos as gestdes do Conselho e da Assembléia Federal Suiga (2858-
1860).

Diversos relatdrios do Dr. Heusser (manuscritos arquivados no Arquivo Federal de Berna).
Manuscritos de Jean Jackes Tschudi (Acervo Arquivo Federal de Berna / SFA).

Capias de correspondéncias entre o corpo diplomatico da Suica e o governo da Prissia.

Livro n®1 da Coldnia Senador Vergueiro (1846) Acervo Paulo Masuti Levy.

Livro Mestre V da Fazenda Ibicaba (1862 - 1867) Acervo Paulo Masuti Levy.

Livro de Matricula da Fazenda Ibicaba (1877 - 1890) Acervo Paulo Masuti Levy.

Livro Borrador 1 (Escritura Mercantil) Faz. Ibicaba - 1890 Acervo Paulo M. Levy.

Auto de Posse de Parte das Terras da Sesmaria Morro Azul - 27-10-1817 Acervo Familia Levy.
Album de Familia (José Vergueiro) - Acervo Dra, Lotte Kdhler - Munique - Alemanha.

Diario de Carlota Schmidt (neta adotiva de José Vergueiro) - Acervo Dra. Lotte Kohler -
Munique.

Processo envolvendo o London and Brazilian Bank e a Vergueiro & Cia. (2878) - Arquivo de
Justica - Comarca de Limeira - Centro Municipal de Memoaria Historica - Limeira, SP.

Fotografias » Photographs

Alexandre Kantowitz

V.D.R. Fotografias

Imagens Centro Municipal de Memoria Histérica - Limeira - SP

Museu Historico e Pedagdgico Prudente de Moraes - Piracicaba - SP

Obras de Guillaume Michaud - Musée Historique de Vevey - Suiga.

Arquivo Capitao Jansen - Ballin Stadt Port of Dreams

Acervo Fazenda Santa Gertrudes - Santa Gertrudes - SP

Acervo Carlota Schmidt Memorial Center

Acervo Ballin Stadt - Hamburg - de

Acervo Prof. Rudolf Schallenmiller

Wagner Morente

Acervo Museu Paulista - USP - Sao Paulo - Brasil

Acervo Dra. Lotte Kohler [ Albrecht Schmidt - Munique - Alemanha

Acervo Familia Levy

Acervo Paulo Masuti Levy (Fazenda Ibicaba - Cordeirgpolis - SP)

Acervo do “Link To Your Roots” Hamburgo Emigration Research Service - Alemanha
Deutsches Auswandererhaus - German Emigration Center - Bremerhaven - de
Centro Municipal de Memoria Historica - Limeira - SP - Brasil

Acervo Museu Histdrico e Pedagégico Major Levy Sobrinho - Limeica - SP - Brasil
Thuringisches Staatsarchiv Gotha - Alemanha

26)
7)
28)
29)

30)
)
32)
33)
34)

Acervo Imigragao Resgate

Geheimes Staatsarchiv Preussischer Kulturbesits - Berlim - Alemanha

Fotos Renato Soares (Acervo Secretaria Municipal de Turismo e Eventos - Limeira - SP).
Cartdes Postais reproduzidos dos volumes da obra:"Lembrangas de Sao Paulo nos Cartdes
Postais e Albuns de Lembrangas de autoria de Jodo Emilio Gerodetti e Carlos Cornejo”, Solaris
Editora.

Arquivo Distrital de Viana do Castelo - Portugal

Imagens do Acervo do Memorial do Imigrante - Sdo Paulo

Consulado Geral da Suica em Sao Paulo

Biblioteca Paulo Levy

Die Pfalz Eine historische Fotoreise, von Theo Scharzmuller - Institut fur pfalzische Geschichte
undVolkskunde - Kaiserslautern - Pfalz - de - 2006

Acervo Luth. Kirchengemeind Bovenau - Schleswig Holstein - Alemanha

Landesarchiv Schleswig Holstein - Alemanha

Imagens do Jornal Allgemeine Auswanderer Zeitung - Rudolstadt - Turingia

Acervo - Cartério 1° Oficio Forum SpencerVampré - Limeira - SP

Fotos de Jodo Augusto Brune (Acervo Dr. Helmut Troppimeier)

Colego Paulo e Maria Cecilia Geyer - Museu Imperial | IPHAN / Ministério da Cultura
Switzerland Tourism By-Line: swiss-image.ch

Acervo Emiliano Bernardo Silva

Acervo Thiringisches Staatsarchiv Rudolstadt - Deutschland
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12) Florence (Hercules) - Viagem Fluvial do Tieté ao Amazonas - de 1825 a 1829 - Tradugao do
Visconde de Taunay, Sao Paulo, Editora Cultrix USP, 1977.

01) Busch, Reynaldo Kuntz: Histdria de Limeira, Limeira, Edigdo da Prefeitura Municipal de 13)  Forjaz (Djalma) O Senador Vergueiro SuaVida e Sua Epoca (1778 - 1859) - 530 Paulo Oficinas do
Limeira, 1967. Diario Oficial, 1924,
; 02) Kaufmann, Hans, Préttigauer Talchronik, Schiers, 2007. 1) Levy (Paulo Masuti) e Heflinger (José Eduardo Jr.) - Selegao de Documentos do Acervo
gﬁ 03) Repertdrio das Sesmarias - Secretaria de Estado da Cultura - Departamento de Museus e do Centro Municipal de Memaria Histdrica de Limeira, Soc. Pro Memdria, Limeira, 2001,
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I 04) Taunay (Carlos Augusto), Manual do Agricultor Brasileiro, 1839 - Acervo BibliotecaNacional R).  15)  Levy (Paulo Masuti) e Heflinger (José Eduardo Jr.) - Caderno de Memrias O Senador Vergueiro
Armazens de Livros IV -196, 6, 22.0u lll - 241, 7, 23. e almigracio Européia - Sociedade Pro Memoria de Limeitra, 1999, Unigrafica Ind. Gréfica
o5) Kidder (D.P) e Fletcher (J.C.) - O Brasil e os Brasileiros, (2 volumes) Tradugao de Elias Dolianit, Ltda.
Sao Paulo, Companhia Editora Nacional, 1941. 16) Kidder (D. P)e Fletcher (). C.), Brazil and the Braziliens, Childs & Peterson, 1857 - Philadelphia -
06) Tschudi (1. J. ven) Viagens as Provincias do Rio de Janeiro e Sdo Paulo, traduggo E. de Limae USA,
Castro, Sao Paulo, Livraria Martins Editora. 17)  Heflinger (José Eduardo Junior), Levy (Paulo Masuti) e Cantalice (Rommel Siqueira Campos) -
o7) Davatz (Thomas) - Memarias de Um Colono no Brasil, Chir, 1858. Recordacdes de Infancia de Carlota Schmidt no Ibicaba, Limeira, Unigrafica Ind. Gréfica Ltda,
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| Sérgio Buarque de Holanda, S3o Paulo, DIFEL, 1967Tomoll, vol. 3°. 19) Guisan, Marjolaine et Lambert, Frangoise, William Michaud (1829 - 1902), Lettres, dessins et
10) Busch, Reynaldo Kuntz - Historia de Limeira 1°Volume, Limeira, Edigao Prefeitura Municipal aquarelles d'um émigrant vaudois au Brésil, Imprimerie Corbaz SA, Montreaux, 2002.
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